## ORIGINAL

## SWIDLER BERLIN SHEREFF FRIEDMAN, LLP

THE WASHINGTON HARBOUR 3000 K STREET, NW, SUITE 300 WASHINGTON, DC 20007-5116 TELEPHONE (202) 424-7500 FACSIMILE (202) 424-7643 WWW.SWIDLAW.COM

NEW YORK OFFICE THE CHRYSLER BUILDING 405 LEXINGTON AVENUE NEW YORK, NY 10174 TELEPHONE (212) 973-0111 FACSIMILE (212) 891-9598

MICHAEL C. SLOAN TELEPHONE: (202) 295-8458 FACSIMILE: (202) 424-7643 MCSLOAN@SWIDLAW.COM

April 12, 2004

Ms. Blanca Bayó, Director The Commission Clerk and Administrative Services Room 110, Easley Building Florida Public Service Commission 2540 Shumard Oak Blvd. Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0850

Docket No. 040156-TP

Dear Ms. Bayó:

Re:

Enclosed for filing on behalf of ACN Communication Services, Inc., Adelphia Business Solutions Operations, Inc. d/b/a TelCove, Allegiance Telecom, Inc., DSLnet Communications, LLC, Florida Digital Network, Inc., PAETEC Communications, Inc., and ICG Telecom Group, Inc. (collectively the "Competitive Carrier Coalition") are an original and 7 copies of the Competitive Carrier Coalition's Motion to Dismiss and Response to Petition for Arbitration of Verizon Florida, Inc.

Also enclosed are an original and 7 copies of the Competitive Carrier Coalition's Motion to designate the undersigned as their Qualified Representative for purposes of this proceeding.

Please acknowledge receipt of these documents by stamping the extra copy of this letter "filed" and returning the same to me.

Very truly yours,

Michael C. Sloan

CMP
COM 5
CTR
ECR
GCL
OPC
MMS
SEC
OTH
Service list

AUS CAF

RECEIVED & FILED

PSC-BUREAU OF RECORDS

DOCUMENT NUMBER PATE

0448 ARE 13 &

FPSC-COMESSION CLEEN

### **CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE**

I hereby certify that on this 12<sup>th</sup> day of April, 2004, I caused copies of the foregoing Competitive Carrier Coaltion's Motion to Dismiss, Response to Petition for Arbitration of Verizon Florida, Inc. and Competitive Carrier Coalition's Request for Representation by a Qualified Representative, to be served upon the following parties by first class mail:

Denelle M. Dixon

#### **SERVICE LIST**

Florida Public Service Commission Staff Counsel Florida Public Service Commission 2540 Shumard Oak Boulevard Tallahassee, FL 32399-0850

Dennis Kelley Director of Operations (Provisioning) 1-800-RECONEX INC. 2500 Industrial Avenue Hubbard, OR 97032

William E. Braun Vice President and General Counsel 1-800-RECONFX INC. 2500 Industrial Avenue Hubbard, OR 97032

Robert Sokota, Esquire General Counsel AboveNet Communications Inc. 360 Hamilton Avenue White Plains, NY 10601

Jill Sandford Senior Attorney AboveNet Communications Inc. 360 Hamilton Avenue White Plains, NY 10601

Kaye Davis Access Point Inc. 16 Hyland Road Suite D Greenville, SC 29615

David Stevanovski ACN Communication Services, Inc. 32991 Hamilton Court Farmington Hills. MI 48334 Janet S. Livengood Director of Legal and Regulatory Affairs Adelphia Business Solutions of Florida L.L.C. I North Main Street Coudersport, PA 16915-1630

Michael D. Boger, Sr. President/CEO Advantage Group of Florida Communications L.L.C. PO Box 34668 Memphis, TN 38184-0688

Wayne Redwood Advent Consulting and Technolo<sup>a</sup>v Inc. 3301 Steeplechase Wesley Chapel, FL 33543

Philip V. Patete ALEC Inc. 3640 Valley Hill Road Kennesaw, GA 30152-3238

Mary C. Albert Vice President - Regulatory and Interconnection Allegiance Telecom of Florida Inc. 1919 M Street NW Suite 420 Washington, DC: 20036

Robert E. Heath American Fiber Network Inc. 9401 Indian Creek Parkway Suite 140 Overland Park, KS 66210

Ken Frid General Manager Arrow Communications Inc. 16001 SW Market Street Indiantown, FL 34956 Bruce W. Cooper Regional Vice President, AT&T AT&T Communications of the Southern States Inc. 3033 Chain Bridge Rd Rm D-325 Oakton, VA 22185

G. Ridgley Loux Regional Counsel AT&T Communications of the Southern States Inc. 3033 Chain Bridge Rd Rm D 300 Oakton, VA 22185

Jill Mounsey Director - External Affairs AT&T Wireless Services Inc. 7277 164th Avenue NE Redmond, WA 98052

John Giannella Vice President - Transport Engineering AT&T Wireless Services Inc. 7277 164th Avenue NE Redmond, WA 98052

Kevin Hayes Atlantic.net Broadband 2815 NW 13th Street Suite 201 Gainesville, FL 32609

B. Diana Webb BD Webb Enterprise Inc. BD Webb Enterprise, Inc. d/b/a Quad City Communications 7303 North Florida Avenue Tampa. FL 33604 Mario L. Soto President Bellsouth BSE Inc. 400 Perimeter Center Terrace Suite 400 Atlanta, GA 30346

Ronald Munn Jr.
Tariffs and Carrier Relations Manager
Budget Phone Inc.
6901 West 70th Street
Shreveport, LA 71 129

Chuck Schneider BullsEye Telecom Inc. 25900 Greenfield Suite 330 Oak Park, MI 48237

Anthony M. Copeland General Counsel Business Telecom Inc. 4300 Six Forks Rd. Raleigh, NC 27609

Debra A. Waller Regulatory Paralegal Cat Communications International Inc. 3435 Chip Dr. Roanoke, VA 24012

Legal Department Ciera Network Systems Inc. 1250 Wood Branch Park Drive Houston, TX 77079

Contracts Administrator City of Lakeland 501 East Lemon Street Lakeland, FL 33801

Roy Harsila Comm South Companies Inc. 6830 Walling Lane Dallas, TX 75231 Allison Hicks General Counsel Communications Xchange LLC 3550 Buschwood Park Drive Suite 320 Tampa, FL 33618

Joyce Gailey Vice President, Business Development & Regulatory Communications Xchange LLC 3550 Buschwood Park Drive Suite 320 Tampa, FL 33618

National Registered Agents, Inc. Delta Phones Inc. 526 East Park Avenue Tallahassee, FL 32301

Delta Phones Inc. 526 East Park Avenue Tallahassee, FL 32301

Cathy Hemmer Vice President - Operations DIECA Communications Inc. Covad Communications Company 2330 Central Expressway Santa Clara, CA 95050

Dhruv Khanna Vice President/General Counsel DIECA Communications Inc. Covad Communications Company 2330 Central Expressway Santa Clara, CA 95050

General Counsel DIECA Communications Inc. Covad Communications Company 3420 Central Expressway Santa Clara, CA 95051 Valerie Evans Covad Team Lead for Verizon DIECA Communications Inc. Covad Communications Company 600 14th Street, NW Suite 750 Washington, DC 20005

Leon Nowalsky
Direct Telephone Company Inc.
Nowalsky & Bronston, L.L.P.
3500 N. Causeway Blvd.
Suite 1442
Metarie, LA 70002

Brian Bolinger DPI-Teleconnect L.L.C. 2997 LBJ Freeway Dallas, TX 75234

Stephen Zamansky DSLnet Communications LLC 545 Long Wharf Drive 5th Floor New Haven, CT 06511

Joseph Magliulo D-Tel Inc. 96 Carlton Avenue Central Islip, NY 1 1722

Lin D. Altamura
Attorney — Duke Energy
DukeNet Communications LLC
400 South Tryon Street, Mail Code WC 29
Charlotte, NC 28202

W. Scott McCollough
Eagle Telecommunications Inc.
Stumpf, Craddock, Massey & Pulman
1250 Captial of Texas Highway South
Building One, Suite 420
Austin, TX 78746

Barbara Greene Regulatory Manager EPICUS Inc. 1025 Greenwood Blvd. Suite 470 Lake Mary, FL 32746

Corporation Service Company EPICUS Inc. 1201 Hays Street Tallahassee, FL 32301

Mark Richards Chief Information Officer, Managing Director EPICUS Inc. 1025 G<sup>r</sup>eenwood Blvd. Suite 470 Lake Mary, FL 32746

Paul Masters Ernest Communications Inc. 6475 Jimmy Carter Blvd #300 Norcross, GA 30071

Scott Kellogg
Essex Communications Inc.
c/o Essex Acquisition Corp.
180 North Wacker
Lower Level - Suite 3
Chicago. 1L 60606

Melissa Smith Vice President External Legal Affairs Excel Telecommunications Inc. 1600 Viceroy Drive 4th Floor Dallas, TX 75235-2306

Michael Gallager Florida Digital Network Inc. 390 North Orange Avenue Suite 2000 Orlando, FL 32801-1642 Waldamar F. Kissel Florida Multi-Media Services Inc. 3600 NW 43rd Street, Suite C-1 Gainesville, FL 32606-8127

Paul Joachim Florida Telephone Services LLC 1667 S. Hwy 17-92 Suite 101 Longwood, FL 32750

Contracts Manager FPL FiberNet LLC 9250 West Flagler Street Miami, FL 33174

Lawrence J. Gabriel Gabriel Wireless LLC 6971 N. Federal Highway Suite 206 Boca Raton, FL 33487

Stephen D. Klein President Ganoco Inc. 1017 Wyndham Way Safety Harbor, FL 34695

Michael J. Shortley Senior Attorney/Director Regulatory Services Global Crossing Local Services Incorporated Frontier- Local Services, Inc. 180 South Clinton Avenue Rochester, NY 14646

James R.J. Scheltema Director, Regulatory Affairs - Southern Regional Office Global NAPS Inc. 1900 East Gadsden St. Pensacola, FL 32501 William J. Rooney, Jr. Vice President & General Counsel Global NAPS Inc. 89 Access Road Norwood, MA 02062

Kathleen Greenan Ramsey Granite Telecommunications LLC Swidler Berlin Shereff Friedman, LLP 3000 K Street, N.W., Suite 300 Washington, DC 20007

Geoffrey Cookman
Director- Carrier Relations
Granite Telecommunications LLC
234 Copeland Street
Quincy, MA 01269

Carl Erhart Director - Wireline Interconnection GTE Mobilnet Incorporated 245 Perimeter Center Parkway Atlanta, GA 30346

Dale Voyles
Esquire
GTE Mobilnet Incorporated
245 Perimeter Center Parkway
Atlanta, GA 30346

Christopher P. Bovert Gulf Coast Communications Inc. 624 Garfield St. Lafayette, LA 70502

Jim Taylor President Heritage Technologies Inc. 2500A Central Parkway Houston, TX 77092

LaCharles Keesee ICG Telecom Group Inc. 161 Inverness Drive West Englewood, CO 801 12 Keith Kramer IDS Telcom LLC 1525 Northwest 167th Street Suite 200 Miami, FL 33 169

Carl Billek IDT America Corp. 520 Broad Street Newark, NJ 07102-3111

Bradford Hamilton Vice President - Operations Intellitee Consulting Inc. 12233 SW 55th Street Suite 81 1 Cooper City, FL 33330

Senior Manager — Carrier Agreements Intermedia Communications Inc. Intermedia Communications Inc. In Care of MCI 2678 Bishop Drive, Suite 200 San Ramon, CA 94583

Chief Technology & Network Counsel Intermedia Communications Inc. 1133 9th Street, N. W. Washington, DC 20036

Vice President — National Carrier & Contract Management Intermedia Communications Inc. 5055 North Point Parkway Alpharetta, GA 30022

Counsel - Network & Facilities Intermedia Communications Inc. 22001 Loudoun County Parkway Ashburn, VA 20147

Nanette Edwards ITC^DeltaCom Communications, Inc. 4092 South Memorial Parkway Huntsville, AL 35802 Marva Johnson Sr. Counsel KMC Data LLC 1755 North Brown Road Lawrenceville, GA 30043

Riley Murphy Sr. Vice President, Legal and Regulatory Affairs KMC Data LLC 1545 Route 206 Bedminster, NJ 07921

Marva Johnson Sr. Counsel KMC Telecom III LLC 1755 North Brown Road Lawrenceville, GA 30043

Riley Murphy Sr. Vice President, Legal and Regulatory Affairs KMC Telecom III LLC 1545 Route 206 Bedminster, NJ 07921

Marva .Johnson Sr. Counsel KMC Telecom V Inc. 1755 North Brown Road Lawrenceville, GA 30043

Riley Murphy Sr. Vice President, Legal and Regulatory Affairs KMC Telecom V Inc. 1545 Route 206 Bedminster, NJ 07921

Lesley Hanchrow Alston & Bird, LLP Knology of Florida, Inc. 601 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20004-2601 Al Thomas LecStar Telecom Inc. 4501 Circle 75 Parkway Building D, Suite 4210 Atlanta, GA 30339

Janice del Pizzo LecStar Telecom Inc. 4501 Circle 75 Parkway Building D, Suite 4210 Atlanta, GA 30339

Interconnection Services
Director
Level 3 Communications LLC
1025 Eldorado Blvd.
Broomfield, CO 80021

Mike Romano Attorney Level 3 Communications LLC 1025 Eldorado Blvd. Broomfield, CO 80021

John J. Greive Lightyear Communications Inc. 1901 Eastpoint Parkway Louisville, KY 40243

M.J. Hager Vice President Litestream Technologies LLC 3550 West Waters Avenue Tampa, FL 33614-2716

Local Line America. Inc. CT Corp 1200 South Pine Island Rd. Plantation, FL 33324

Daniel Webb, Jim Marchant, or Glenn Kernweis MAXCESS Inc. 100 W. Lucerne Circle. Room 500 Orlando, FL 32801 Senior Manager — Carrier Agreements MCImetro Access Transmission Services LLC in care of MCI 2678 Bishop Drive, Suite 200 San Ramon, CA 94583

Chief Technology & Network Counsel MCImetro Access Transmission Services LLC MCI WorldCom, Inc. 113 3 ) 19th Street, N.W. Washington, DC 20036

Vice President — National Carrier & Contract Management MCImetro Access Transmission Services LLC 5055 North Point Parkway Alpharetta, GA 30022

Counsel - Network & Facilities MCImetro Access Transmission Services LLC MCI WorldCom, Inc. 22001 Loudoun County Parkway Ashburn, VA 20147

Patrick Smith Metro Teleconnect Companies Inc. 2150 Herr Street Harrisburg, PA 17103

Paul Besozzi Metrocall Inc. Patton Boggs LLP 2550 M Street N.W. Washington, DC 20037

Ken Goldstein Metrocall Inc. 6677 Richmond Highway Alexandria, VA 22306 Senior- Manager — Carrier Agreements Metropolitan Fiber Systems of Florida Inc. in care of MCI 2678 Bishop Drive Suite 200 San Ramon, CA 94583

Chief Technology & Network Counsel Metropolitan Fiber Systems of Florida Inc. MCI WorldCom, Inc. 1133 19th Street, N.W. Washington, DC 20036

Vice President — National Carrier & Contract Management Metropolitan Fiber Systems of Florida Inc. 5055 North Point Parkway Alpharetta, GA 30022

Counsel - Network & Facilities Metropolitan Fiber Systems of Florida Inc. MC1 WorldCom, Inc. 22001 Loudoun County Parkway Ashburn, VA 20147

David Aronow
President
Metropolitan Telecommunications of
Florida Inc.
44 Wall Street
6th Floor
New York, NY 10005

Irina Armstrong Legal Department Metropolitan Telecommunications of Florida Inc. 44 Wall Street 14th Floor New York, NY 10005 Sam Vogel
CMO & SVP Interconnection
Metropolitan Telecommunications of
Florida Inc.
44 Wall Street
6th Floor
New York, NY 10005

David Benck Momentum Business Solutions Inc. 2090 Columbiana Road, Suite 4800 Birmingham, AL 35216

JP DeJoubner Myatel Corporation 7154 N. University Drive. 4142 Tamarac, FL 33321

W. Scott McCullough Myatel Corporation Stumpf, Craddock, Massey & Pulman 1250 Capital of Texas Highway South Building One, Suite 420 Austin, TX 78746

Mark Mansour National Telecom & Broadband Services LLC 2400 E. Commercial Blvd. Suite 720 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33308

David M. Wilson Esquire Network Services LLC Wilson & Bloomfield LLP 1901 Harrison Street Oakland, CA 94612

General Counsel Network Services LLC 525 South Douglas El Segundo, CA 90245 Brent McMahan Vice-President - Regulatory & Governmental Affairs Network Telephone Inc. 8154 S. Palafox Street Pensacola, FL 32501

Susan McAdams
Vice-President Government & Industry
Affairs
New Edge Network Inc.
3000 Columbia House Blvd.
Suite 106
Vancouver, WA 98661

Jon C. Moyle, Jr. NewSouth Communications Corp. Moyle, Flanigan, Katz, Raymond & Sheehan, P.A. 118 North Gadsden Street Tallahassee, FL 32301

Joseph Koppy President NOS Communications Inc. 4380 Boulder Highway Las Vegas, NV 89121

Eric Fishman Novus Communications Inc. Holland & Knight LLP 2099 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20006

Tom Murphy NUI Telecom Inc. 550 Route 202-206 Bedminster, NJ 07921

Hamilton E. Russell III NuVox Communications Inc. 301 N. Main Street Suite 5000 Greenville, SC 29601 J. T. Ambrosi Manager of Regulatory Affairs PaeTec Communications Inc. One PaeTec Plaza 600 Willowbrook Office Park Fairport, NY 14450-4233

Annette Lee Phone-Link Inc. 230 Yager Avenue Suite 3 LaGrange, KY 40031

Alex Valencia Regulatory Counsel Preferred Carrier Services Inc. 14681 Midway Road Suite 105 Addison, TX 75001

Leo Wrobel President Premiere Network Services inc. 1510 N. Hampton Suite 120 De Soto, TX 751 15

Allan Bakalar Carrier Relations Manager Progress Telecom Corporation 100 Second Avenue South, Suite 400S St. Petersburg, FL 33701

Jenna Brown Manager, Regulatory Affairs QuantumShift Communications Inc. 88 Rowland Way Novato, CA 94945

Patrick J. O'Connor QuantumShift Communications Inc. Gray Cary Ware & Freidenrich 1625 Massachusetts Ave., NW Suite 300 Washington. DC 20036 Carl J. Burgess Rebound Enterprises Inc. 1005 Polk Street Bartow, FL 33830

Mario J. Yeralc President Saluda Networks Incorporated 782 NW 42nd Avenue Suite 210 Miami, FL 33126

Adam E. McKinney Attorney SBC Telecom Inc. 208 S. Akard Room 3004 Dallas. TX 75202

David G. Hammock
Executive SBC Telecom
SBC Telecom Inc.
Three Bell Plaza
Room 1502
Dallas. TX 75202

John Hohman Source One Communications Inc. 2320-13 N. Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32303

Kathy Robins Southern Telcom Network Inc. 94 Hazel Drive Mountain Home, AR 72653

W. Richard Morris
Vice President - Local Market Integration
Sprint Communications Company Limited
Partnership
7301 College Blvd.
KSOPKV0214
Overland Park, KS 66210

Richard Kirkwood Suntel Metro Inc. P.O. Box 5770 Winter Park, FL 32793-5770

Olukayode Ramos Supra Telecommunications & Information Systems Inc. 2620 S.W. 27th Avenue Miami, FL 33133

Greg Hogan Symtelco LLC 1385 Weber Industrial Drive Cumming, GA 30041

Robin Caldwell President Talk Unlimited Now Inc. 3606 S. Waverly Place Tampa, FL 33629

Eric Larsen Tallahassee Telephone Exchange Inc. Eric Larsen 1367 Mahan Drive Tallahassee, FL 32308

Bruce W. Cooper AT&T Regional Vice President, Local Svcs & Access Mgmt, Eastern Region TCG South Florida AT&T 3033 Chain Bridge Road Room D-325 Oakton, VA 22185

G. Ridgley Loux AT&T Law & Government Affairs, Regional Counsel TCG South Florida AT&T 3033 Chain Bridge Road Room D 300 Oakton, VA 22185 Enrico C. Soriano The Ultimate Connection L.C. Kelley Drye & Warren LLP 1200 19th Street. NW. Fifth Floor Washington, DC 20036

Derek Dunn-Rankin
President & Chief Executive Officer
The Ultimate Connection L.C.
182 15 Paulson Drive
Port Charlotte, FL 33954-1019

Tina Davis Vice President & Deputy General Counsel Time Warner Telecom 10475 Park Meadows Drive Littleton, CO 80124

Carolyn Marek Vice President Regulatory Affairs Time Warner Telecom 233 Bramerton Court Franklin, TN 37069

Director - Carrier Management T-Mobile USA Inc. 12920 SE 38th St. Bellevue, WA 98006

General Counsel T-Mobile USA Inc. 12920 SE 38th St. Bellevue, WA 98006

General Counsel US LEC of Florida Inc. 6801 Morrison Boulevard Charlotte, NC 28211

Wanda G. Montano Vice President Regulatory and Industry Affairs US LEC of Florida Inc. 6801 Morrison Boulevard Charlotte, NC 28211 Jean Cherubin USA Telephone Inc. 1510 ONE 162 Street Miami, FL 33162

Jim Smith Utilities Commission, New Smyrna Beach Davis Wright Tremaine LLP 1500 K Street, NW Suite 450 Washington, DC 20005

Julie Corsig Utilities Commission, New Smyrna Beach Davis Wright Tremaine LLP 1500 K Street, NW Suite 450 Washington, DC 20005

Genevieve Turano Director of Administrative Services Utilities Commission, New Smyrna Beach 200 Canal Street, PO Boa 100 New Smyrna Beach, FL 32170

Michael Hoffman VarTec Telecom Inc. 1600 Viceroy Drive Dallas, TX 75235

Director Regulatory-Interconnection Verizon Wireless Personal Communications LP 1300 I Street NW, Suite 400W Washington, DC 20005

Dudley Upton
Director of Interconnection
Verizon Wireless Personal Communications
LP
One Verizon Place
GA3B 1 REG
Alpharetta, GA 30004-8511

Nicholas A. lannuzzi, Jr. Volo Communications of Florida Inc. 151 S. Wymore Rd., Suite 3000 Altamonte Springs, FL 32714

Kimberly Bradley Senior Director - Regulatory Affairs Winstar Communications LLC 1850 M Street, NW Suite 300 Washington, DC 20036

Richard S. Dodd II Esquire Winstar Communications LLC 1850 M Street, NW Suite 300 Washington, DC 20036

Stephen Murray Senior Director - State Regulatory Winstar Communications LLC 1850 M Street. NW Suite 300 Washington, DC 20036

Victor Gaither Senior Director - Carrier Relations Winstar Communications LLC 2350 Corporate Park Drive Herndon, VA 20171

Howard S. Jonas Chairman WInStar Wireless of Florida Inc. IDT Building 520 Broad Street Newark, NJ 07102

E. Brian Finkelstein CEO WinStar Wireless of Florida Inc. 1DT Building 520 Broad Street Newark, NJ 07102 Geoff Rochwarger COO WinStar Wireless of Florida Inc. IDT Building 520 Broad Street Newark, NJ 07102

Frank Heaton Director Of External Affairs Wireless One Network L.P. 2100 Electronics Lane Ft. Myers, FL 33912

Director, Regulatory Affairs XO Florida Inc. 1730 Rhode Island Avenue NW, Suite 1000 Washington, DC 20036 Director, Regulatory Affairs XO Florida Inc. 105 Molloy St., 4300 Nashville, TN 37201-2315

James C. Falvey
Vice President - Regulatory Affairs
Xspedius Management Co. Switched
Services L.L.C. and Xspedius Management
Co. of Jacksonville L.L.C.
7125 Columbia Gateway Drive
Suite 200
Columbia, MD 21046

Andrew Graham Legal Counsel Z-Tel Communications, Inc. 601 S. Harbour Island Blvd. Suite 220 Tampa, FL 33602

# BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Petition of Verizon Florida Inc. for Arbitration of an Amendment to Interconnection Agreements with Competitive Local Exchange Carriers and Commercial Mobile Radio Service Providers in Florida Pursuant to Section 252 of the Communications Act of 1934, as Amended, and the Triennial Review Order

Docket No. 040156-TP

# COMPETITIVE CARRIER COALITION'S MOTION TO DISMISS AND RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR ARBITRATION OF VERIZON FLORIDA INC.

Russell M. Blau Michael C. Sloan Philip J. Macres Swidler Berlin Shereff Friedman, LLP 3000 K Street, Suite 300 Washington, DC 20007 Tel: 202-424-7500

Email: rmblau@swidlaw.com mcsloan@swidlaw.com pjmacres@swidlaw.com

Fax: 202-424-7645

Counsel for the Competitive Carrier Coalition (members listed below)

Dan Gonos ACN Communication Services, Inc. 32991 Hamilton Court Farmington Hills, Michigan 48334

Tel: (248) 699-3517 Fax: (248) 489-4000

Email: DGonos@acninc.com

John B. Glicksman, Esq. Adelphia Business Solutions Operations, Inc. d/b/a TelCove 712 N. Main Street Coudersport, Pennsylvania 16915

Tel: (814) 274-6361 Fax: (814) 274-8243

Email: john.glicksman@telecove.com

(continued)

DOCUMENT NUMBER-DATE

04487 APR 13 3

John C. Gockley Allegiance Telecom, Inc. 700 E. Buterfield Road, Suite 400 Lombard, Illinois 60148

Tel: (630) 522-5493 Fax: (630) 522-5453

Email: John.Gockley@allegiancetelecom.com

Matt Feil Florida Digital Network, Inc. 390 N. Orange Avenue, Suite 2000 Orlando, FL 32801 Tel: (407) 835-0460

Fax: (407) 835-0309

Email: mfeil@floridadigital.net

Scott Beer Andrea Guzman ICG Telecom Group, Inc. 161 Inverness Drive West Englewood, Colorado 80112

Tel: (303) 414-5906 Fax: (303) 414-5817

Email: scott\_beer@icgcomm.com andrea\_guzman@icgcomm.com

April 13, 2004

Schula Hobbs
Senior Manager, Regulatory Affairs
DSLnet Communications, LLC
545 Long Wharf Drive, 5<sup>th</sup> Floor
New Haven, Connecticut 06511

Tel: (203) 782-7493 Fax: (203) 624-3612

Email: schula.hobbs@dslnet

J.T. Ambrosi
PAETEC Communications, Inc.
One PAETEC Plaza
600 Willowbrook Office Park
Fairport, NY 14450

Tel: (716) 340-2528 Fax: (716) 340-2563

Email: jt.ambrosi@PAETEC.com

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

DISCU	JSSION	2
I.	The Co	ommission Should Dismiss Verizon's Petition2
	A.	Verizon's Petition is Premature Because There has Not Been an Effective Change of Law
	B.	Verizon Did Not Comply with Filing Requirements that Are Mandated by Law
	C.	Consideration of Verizon's Petition Would Be Wasteful of Administrative Resources.
	D.	Verizon's Request to Amend Interconnection Agreements with Rates and Terms Associated with Routine Network Modifications Should be Dismissed
II.	Respon	se to the TRO Amendment Proposed by Verizon
	A.	Amendment Terms and Conditions 14
	B.	General Conditions (TRO Attachment § 1)
	C.	Glossary (TRO Attachment § 2)
	D.	Loops (TRO Attachment § 3.1)
		1. High Capacity Loops (TRO Attachment § 3.1.1)
		2. Fiber to the Home ("FTTH") Loops (TRO Attachment § 3.1.2), Hybrid Loops (TRO Attachment § 3.1.34), and Line Sharing (TRO Attachment § 3.2)
	E.	Subloops (TRO Attachment § 3.3)
	F.	Circuit Switching (TRO Attachment § 3.4.1-3.4.2)
	G.	Signaling/Databases (TRO Attachment § 3.4.3)
	H.	Interoffice Facilities (TRO Attachment § 3.5)
	I.	Combinations and Commingling (TRO Attachment § 3.6)
	J.	Routine Network Modifications (TRO Attachment § 3.7)
	K.	Section 271 Obligations (TRO Attachment New Section § 3.8)
	L.	Non-Conforming Facilities (TRO Attachment § 3.9 (Verizon Section § 3.8))
	M.	Pricing Attachment to TRO Amendment
CONC	LUSION	J
		Attachments
Attach	ment 1	Competitive Carrier Coalition's Proposed Alternative to Verizon's Proposed TRO Amendment ("TRO Attachment")

# BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Petition of Verizon Florida Inc. for Arbitration of an Amendment to Interconnection Agreements with Competitive Local Exchange Carriers and Commercial Mobile Radio Service Providers in Florida Pursuant to Section 252 of the Communications Act of 1934, as Amended, and the Triennial Review Order

Docket No. 040156-TP

# COMPETITIVE CARRIER COALITION'S MOTION TO DISMISS AND RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR ARBITRATION OF VERIZON FLORIDA INC.

ACN Communication Services, Inc.; Adelphia Business Solutions Operations, Inc. d/b/a TelCove; Allegiance Telecom, Inc.; DSLnet Communications, LLC; Florida Digital Network, Inc.; PAETEC Communications, Inc.; and ICG Telecom Group, Inc. (collectively the "Competitive Carrier Coalition" or "Coalition") hereby submits their response to the Petition for Arbitration ("Petition"), as updated on March 19, 2004, of Verizon Florida Inc. ("Verizon") that seeks to amend the interconnection agreements of CLECs to reflect a change in law in accordance with the FCC's *Triennial Review Order* ("TRO"). 1

As a preliminary matter and as explained below, Verizon's Petition should be dismissed on numerous grounds. First, the Petition is premature because Verizon is required, pursuant to the Bell Atlantic/GTE Merger Conditions, to offer UNEs under its existing agreements until the *TRO* is final and non-appealable. At this time, the *TRO* is nowhere near being close to that. Second, Verizon's Petition fails to comply with significant procedural requirements that are mandated by law. Third, consideration of Verizon's petition would be a waste of Commission resources when the law on which the Petition

Review of the Section 251 Unbundling Obligations of Incumbent Local Exchange Carriers, Implementation of the Local Competition Provisions of the Telecommunications Act of 1996, Deployment of Wireline Services Offering Advanced Telecommunications Capability, CC Docket Nos. 01-338, 96-98, 98-147, Report and Order and Order on Remand and Further Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, 18 FCC Rcd 16978 (2003) ("Triennial Review Order" or "TRO"), corrected by Errata, 18 FCC Rcd 19020 (2003) ("Triennial Review Order Errata"). In its Petition, Verizon contends that its Petition is being filed pursuant to the transition process the FCC established in that Order.

purports to be based is still undetermined. Finally, with respect to the rates and terms Verizon seeks to impose for routine network upgrades, Verizon's obligation in this regard is not a product of a change of law and Verizon is already recovering the costs for such upgrades in its recurring UNE rates.

If the Commission does not dismiss or stay Verizon's Petition for these reasons, it should reject and/or modify substantial portions of Verizon's proposed amendment because it fails to comply fully with the requirements of section 251 of the Act.<sup>2</sup> Verizon's proposal contains numerous terms that are inconsistent with the requirements of the *TRO* or with other statutory and regulatory provisions.

#### **DISCUSSION**

#### I. The Commission Should Dismiss Verizon's Petition.

A. Verizon's Petition is Premature Because There has Not Been an Effective Change of Law.

The Commission should not entertain Verizon's arbitration request at this time because, contrary to the assertions in the Petition, Verizon's legal duty to offer UNEs has not yet been modified by the *TRO*. Verizon has an independent legal obligation pursuant to the Bell Atlantic/GTE Merger Conditions to offer UNEs, as its interconnection agreements currently require, until there is a *final and non-appealable* decision that requires Verizon to do otherwise.<sup>3</sup> The *TRO* plainly is not a "non-appealable" order, inasmuch as appeals of it are actually pending.

Verizon accepted this legal obligation as a condition of receiving FCC approval of the merger of its predecessor companies, Bell Atlantic Corporation ("BA") and GTE Corporation ("GTE"). On June 16, 2000, the FCC approved, subject to explicit conditions, the merger of the two companies. Verizon proposed, and the Commission adopted, a series of conditions intended to mitigate potential public

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In submitting this response, the Competitive Carrier Coalition does not concede that any particular interconnection agreement between Verizon and individual members of the Coalition needs to be amended to reflect a change of law. In addition, the Competitive Carrier Coalition reserves its rights, and any other grounds it may have, to appeal, contest, dispute, or challenge any aspect of Verizon's Petition or the TRO.

This Bell Atlantic/GTE Merger Condition was designed to protect CLECs from the negative impacts associated with this merger and only applies to the narrowing of Verizon's obligations to offer UNEs. To the extent the *TRO* has increased or expanded the availability of UNEs and/or UNE combinations, e.g., commingling, the Merger Condition is inapplicable.

interest harms from the merger and to enhance competition in the local exchange and exchange access markets in previous Bell Atlantic and GTE serving areas.<sup>4</sup> One of those conditions was that Verizon continue to make UNEs available under the UNE Remand and Line Sharing Orders until the date on which the Commission orders in those proceedings, and any subsequent proceedings, become final and non-appealable.<sup>5</sup>

Paragraph 39 of the Bell Atlantic/GTE Merger Conditions specifically states as follows:

Atlantic/GTE shall continue to make available Bell telecommunications carriers, in the Bell Atlantic/GTE Service Area within each of the Bell Atlantic/GTE States, the UNEs and UNE combinations required in [the UNE Remand and Line Sharing Orders] ... in accordance with those Orders until the date of a final, non-appealable judicial decision providing that the UNE or combination of UNEs is not required to be provided by Bell Atlantic/GTE in the relevant geographic area. The provisions of this Paragraph shall become null and void and impose no further obligation on Bell Atlantic/GTE after the effective date of final and non-appealable Commission orders in the UNE Remand and Line Sharing proceedings, respectively.6

When it approved the Bell Atlantic and GTE merger with this condition, the FCC discussed the effect of the UNE condition in the following terms:

In order to reduce uncertainty to competing carriers from litigation that may arise in response to our orders in the UNE Remand and Line Sharing proceedings, from now until the date on which the Commission's orders in those proceedings, and any subsequent proceedings, become final and non-appealable, Bell Atlantic and GTE will continue to make

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> GTE Corporation, Transferor, and Bell Atlantic Corporation, Transferee, for Consent to Transfer Control of Domestic and International Sections 214 and 310 Authorizations and Application to Transfer Control of a Submarine Cable Landing License, CC Docket 98-184, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 15 FCC Rcd 14032, FCC 00-221 (2000) ("Bell Atlantic/GTE Merger Order"). The actual Merger Conditions appear as Appendix D to the Order.

See Bell Atlantic/GTE Merger Order, Appendix D ¶ 39 (citing Implementation of the Local Competition Provisions of the Telecommunications Act of 1996, Third Report and Order and Fourth Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, CC Docket No. 96-98, FCC 99-238 (rel. Nov. 5, 1999) ("UNE Remand Order") and Deployment of Wireline Services Offering Advanced Telecommunications Capability and Implementation of the Local Competition Provisions of the Telecommunications Act of 1996, Third Report and Order in CC Docket No. 98-147 and Fourth Report and Order in CC Docket No. 96-98 (rel. Dec. 9, 1999) ("Line Sharing Order")).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Bell Atlantic/GTE Merger Order, Appendix D  $\P$  39. By its own terms, this condition continues to apply until the date of a final and non-appealable decision, even though other provisions of the Merger Conditions may have expired.

available to telecommunications carriers, in accordance with those orders, each UNE and combination of UNEs that is required under those orders, until the date of any final and non-appealable judicial decision that determines that Bell Atlantic/GTE is not required to provide the UNE or combination of UNEs in all or a portion of its operating territory. This condition only would have practical effect in the event that our rules adopted in the UNE Remand and Line Sharing proceedings [which includes subsequent proceedings] are stayed or vacated.<sup>7</sup>

This condition is still in effect, because the FCC's *UNE Remand* and *Line Sharing* Orders never became final and non-appealable, and the *TRO* is an outgrowth of those same proceedings. Both the *UNE Remand* and *Line Sharing* Orders were appealed to the D.C. Circuit, and that court remanded both decisions (and vacated the *Line Sharing* rules) to the FCC in its first *USTA* decision. The FCC then consolidated the remands of these two orders with its ongoing Triennial Review rulemaking. The *TRO* is expressly captioned as an "Order on Remand" in both the *UNE Remand* docket (CC Docket No. 96-98) and the *Line Sharing* docket (CC Docket No. 98-147). Indeed, the appeals from the *TRO* were transferred to the D.C. Circuit because the order was an outgrowth of that court's earlier decision, and the case was assigned to the *USTA* panel for the same reason. Thus, as long as the Triennial Review proceeding remains pending before the FCC, neither the *UNE Remand* nor the *Line Sharing* proceeding has been terminated by a final, non-appealable order.

Of course, the *TRO* itself is far from being final and non-appealable. The D.C. Circuit recently vacated and/or remanded many significant provisions of the *TRO*, and this decision, in turn, is expected to be appealed to the Supreme Court; if and when the appeals are completed, and if the case is then

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Bell Atlantic/GTE Merger Order, ¶ 316 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> United States Telecom Ass'n v. FCC, 290 F.3d 415 (D.C. Cir. 2002) ("USTA I").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See FCC Public Notice DA 02-1291, Wireline Competition Bureau Extends Reply Comment Deadline for the Triennial Review Proceedings (rel. May 30, 2002) (extending the deadline for reply comments in the Review of the Section 251 Unbundling Obligations of Incumbent Local Exchange Carriers (Triennial Review) proceeding until July 17, 2002 so that parties can incorporate their analysis of USTA I into their reply comments); see TRO (citing USTA I numerous times as the legal backdrop and basis upon which the FCC rendered its decision).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Eschelon Telecom, Inc. v. FCC, 345 F.3d 682 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2003).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> United States Telecom Association v. FCC, No. 00-1012 (D.C. Cir. Mar. 2, 2004) ("USTA II"), slip op. at 10-11.

remanded, the FCC presumably will have to prescribe new rules that address defects the D.C. Circuit identified.<sup>12</sup> The Bell Atlantic/GTE merger conditions described above were expressly designed to protect CLECs from the uncertainty associated with this litigation prior to its ultimate conclusion.

Accordingly, Verizon's request that the Commission arbitrate and amend interconnection agreements to reflect determinations made in the *TRO* is premature until new FCC rules are final and non-appealable. Because Verizon has an independent and continuing legal obligation in the meantime under the Bell Atlantic/GTE Merger Conditions to offer UNEs pursuant to the UNE Remand and Line Sharing Orders, Verizon's arbitration petition should be dismissed.

## B. Verizon Did Not Comply with Filing Requirements that Are Mandated by Law.

Even if Verizon's Petition were not premature for the reasons stated above, it would still be procedurally defective. Because of the inflexible time limits for arbitration imposed by the Telecom Act, <sup>13</sup> Section 252(b)(2) imposes several explicit duties *on the petitioning party*, <sup>14</sup> which seeks to invoke the Commission's time and attention (as well as the time and resources of the responding parties) In particular, 47 U.S.C. § 252(b)(2)(A) requires that:

A party that petitions a State commission under paragraph (1) shall, at the same time as it submits the petition, provide the State commission all relevant documentation concerning –

- (i) the unresolved issues;
- (ii) the position of each of the parties with respect to those issues; and

USTA II at 61-62; FCC News, Statement of FCC Commissioner Michael J. Copps, Kevin J. Martin, and Jonathan S. Adelstein on the D.C. Circuit's Decision to Eliminate the FCC's Rules (rel. Mar. 3, 2004); FCC News Release, Statement of FCC Chairmen Michael K. Powell Regarding the D.C. Circuit Decision on Triennial Review (rel. March 2, 2003); FCC News, Commissioner Abernathy Reacts to Triennial Review Decision by D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals (rel. Mar. 2, 2004), available at http://www.fcc.gov.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Telecommunications Act of 1996, codified at 47 USC § 251 et seq.

Section 252(b) of the Act requires that state commissions resolve unresolved issues raised in an arbitration within approximately nine months from the date a request to negotiate was made. Because arbitration petitions can only be filed between the 135 and 160th day (or approximately 4.5 months) after such a request was made, state commissions have approximately 4.5 months to resolve the outstanding issues. This is an exceedingly tight schedule for the resolution of arbitration petitions, especially now with all the litigation going on to implement the TRO.

(iii) any other issue discussed and resolved by the parties.<sup>15</sup>

As discussed below, however, Verizon's Petition does not even attempt to meet this up-front burden and, therefore, should be dismissed.

First, Verizon has not specifically identified the "unresolved issues" or disputed contract language for any CLEC. Verizon only offers blanket and generic statements that parties have issues with contract rates, terms and conditions. However, that is not enough. Section 252 mandates that the party requesting arbitration identify and present the issues to the Commission clearly and distinctly, which Verizon failed to do. This filing requirement is critical because the Section 252 arbitration process will not work within its time limits if the issues are not laid out in a clear manner on the date the petitioner files its arbitration petition.

Because Verizon's Petition is deficient in this regard, the Commission should dismiss it. Otherwise, the Commission will need to consume valuable time narrowing down the issues, a process that will effectively begin after the responses to the arbitration petition are due, and will reduce even further the time available for actual resolution of issues in dispute. Verizon has had four months since it sent its October 2 letter to anticipate and prepare for the filing of its generic Petition. It is improper for Verizon to now file a boilerplate Petition, devoid of necessary facts, that seeks to shift the burden onto the CLECs and/or the Commission to both identify and resolve disputed issues on an expedited basis.

Second, in disregard of Section 252(b)(2)(A)(ii), Verizon did not submit "the position of each of the parties" with respect to each the issues in its Petition. Without this information, the Commission has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> 47 U.S.C. § 252(b)(2)(A).

In its Petition, Verizon avers that CLECs were untimely in responding to Verizon's proposed amendment and therefore it did not have sufficient time to ascertain what issues CLEC have with Verizon's proposed amendment and their related positions prior to filing its Petition. Verizon Petition at 5. Contrary to these assertions, several CLECs, including members of the Coalition in this state and/or other states, were timely in providing redlines of Verizon's amendment back to Verizon. However, rather than seek comment from these CLECs regarding the issues they have with Verizon's proposal, their positions, and determine an outline of common issues and positions among CLECs, Verizon filed its Petition against all CLECs, which it has an interconnection agreement with in a given state, that did not contain this information as the law requires. Verizon had plenty of time to pull that information together prior to the date the arbitration window closed; *i.e.*, March 10, 2004, but didn't. Its failure in this regard should be deemed fatal to its Petition.

no sense of the scope of the issues or how close or how far apart the parties are in resolving the issues. Moreover, although Verizon requests that the arbitration be dealt with on a consolidated basis, particular issues that each CLEC may have with Verizon's proposed amendment vary according to each CLEC's individual needs, the nature of its interconnection agreement with Verizon, and any negotiation history with Verizon that has already taken place. In this regard, Verizon has not made any attempt to outline the common issues CLECs have expressed with respect to Verizon's proposed amendment that would somehow justify mass consolidation and arbitration of the issues.<sup>17</sup>

Third, Verizon failed to mention "any other issue discussed and resolved by the parties." Nothing in Verizon's Petition explains what occurred during the negotiations process, what attempts were made by Verizon to conduct negotiations, or where and why negotiations broke down and or how issues were resolved by the parties. Nor could it because Verizon's only desire was to arbitrate rather than negotiate.

Verizon's failure to submit the required information is no mere oversight, but instead results from the fact that Verizon has not to date participated in genuine good faith negotiations with most CLECs regarding a TRO amendment. Although Verizon circulated a proposal to most CLECs soon after the TRO became effective, there have been few, if any, attempts by Verizon or CLECs to negotiate their differences. CLECs reasonably interpreted Verizon's inaction as a preference to begin serious negotiations later, after the fate of the TRO on appeal became clear, and that arbitrations, if any, would occur only after a later period of negotiations. For example, soon after receiving Verizon's template amendment proposal, Coalition member Florida Digital Network Inc. ("FDN") asked Verizon whether negotiations were required. By email dated October 16, 2003, Verizon informed FDN that if FDN did not want to negotiate the amendment, Verizon was not asking FDN to negotiate. FDN reasonably understood this response to mean that the parties were not yet operating under the negotiations timeframe of Section 252. Verizon cannot reasonably petition for arbitration now, as if the parties have actually

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> See supra note 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> FDN reserves the right to argue that Verizon's October 16 statement constitutes an admission that the TRO was not a change of law. FDN has given Verizon an opportunity to state a position regarding its October 16 email, but Verizon has not yet responded to that request.

been negotiating for 135 days. The Commission should instead dismiss the petition, and require the parties to negotiate under a new arbitration clock. If the parties are unable to come to an agreement after a real negotiations period, at least they will be able to present the positions of the parties and narrow the issues remaining in dispute, as contemplated by Section 252.

For these reasons, among others, the North Carolina Utilities Commission ordered that Verizon's consolidated arbitration petition that was filed on February 20, 2004, which is virtually identical to the one filed in Florida, be continued *indefinitely* because, *inter alia*, Verizon did not comply with the Commission's arbitration procedural rules.<sup>19</sup> Moreover, staff of the Virginia State Corporation Commission have filed a motion to dismiss a similar arbitration petition that Verizon filed in Virginia due to Verizon's failure to comply with procedural requirements and abuse of Section 252(g) of the Act.<sup>20</sup>

For the foregoing reasons, the Commission should immediately dismiss Verizon's Petition before further time and effort is wasted in attempting to prosecute this proceeding. Verizon's failure to provide the information discussed above in its Petition violates federal law and is sufficient grounds to dismiss Verizon's Petition without further ado. Verizon's failure to comply with the law should not be tolerated.<sup>21</sup>

## C. Consideration of Verizon's Petition Would Be Wasteful of Administrative Resources.

Even if the above-stated grounds for dismissal did not exist, it would be a waste of this Commission's resources to consider Verizon's Petition at this time, when the law on which the Petition

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> In the Matter of Interconnection Agreements with Competitive Local Exchange Carriers and Commercial Mobile Radio Service Providers, Docket No. P-19, Sub 477, Order Continuing Proceeding Indefinitely, at 2 (N.C.U.C. Mar. 3, 2004) ("N.C. Order Continuing Proceeding Indefinitely") (noting that Verizon's arbitration petition was deficient because it did not include prefiled testimony or a matrix summary, and did not appear to be signed by North Carolina counsel). Significantly, in its order, the North Carolina Commission specifically advised "Verizon that it may avail itself of the provisions of Section 252(e)(5), wherein the arbitration may be referred to the FCC." Id. This Commission could take a similar approach and make a similar suggestion to Verizon.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Petition of Verizon Virginia Inc. and Verizon South Inc. Petition for Arbitration, Case No. PUC-2004-00030, Staff Motion to Dismiss, at 4 (filed Mar. 24, 2004).

Verizon would not be precluded from seeking to use the arbitration process at some appropriate future date, as long as Verizon complies with all applicable procedural requirements.

purports to be based is still undetermined. The *TRO* cannot be relied on as the law of the land, because *USTA II* vacated and/or remanded various aspects of this decision. However, *USTA II* cannot be relied on because it is widely know that this decision, which has not gone into effect (and may not if it is stayed), will be appealed to the Supreme Court. And, even if *USTA II* does take effect, that decision remands various issues to the FCC for further consideration, which may result in still further changes in the law.<sup>22</sup> Given this, it makes no sense whatsoever to arbitrate Verizon's proposed amendment if the law that needs to be applied is in a state of flux and the amendment will need to be modified in short order reflect the upcoming rounds of court or FCC decisions. Instead, dismissal of Verizon's Petition is appropriate at this time if Verizon does not withdraw it voluntarily. Otherwise, the Commission will be stuck in an endless cycle of amending and re-amending interconnection agreements to conform to every intermediate court ruling and every set of FCC rules that remains subject to appeal. Rather than waste resources by following this course of action, the Commission should not entertain this arbitration until the law settles.

Verizon's own proposed amendment demonstrates that the "changed" law supposedly being implemented in this arbitration is still in a state of flux. Paragraph 6 of the amendment recognizes that the *Triennial Review Order* remains subject to appeal. However, rather than apply the existing change of law procedures in the parties approved interconnection agreement, Verizon instead proposes the extraordinary and chaotic plan in which any stay by an appeals court would suspend portions of the amendment and any reversal by an appeals court would allow either party unilaterally to "void" portions of the amendment, without the consent of the other party or the approval of the Commission. Moreover, Verizon's proposed TRO Attachment is laced with provisions that would enable Verizon to withdraw UNEs based on Verizon's unilateral interpretation of *future* events, such as the determinations of the so-called "9 month cases" that, in light of *USTA II*, may never occur. If the history of local competition has demonstrated anything, it is that unilateral authority in the hands of the ILECs to change the rules of the game is a recipe for mischief, not for effective implementation of the Act. Verizon's own arbitration proposal

 $<sup>^{22}</sup>$  As a practical matter, if the *USTA II* decision goes into effect, the negotiation and arbitration windows established in the TRO will be effectively reset.

therefore demonstrates that many of the issues for consideration by the Commission are not yet ripe, and may never be.

Two other commissions have recognized this and refused to move forward with respect to similar Petitions for Arbitration that Verizon filed in Maryland and North Carolina. In particular, on March 15, 2004, the Maryland Public Service Commission ("Maryland PSC") dismissed Verizon's consolidated arbitration petition, which is virtually identical to the petition that initiated this proceeding. The Maryland PSC ruled that "the Commission believes that Verizon's Petition for Arbitration is premature, as the status of the law it seeks to use as a trigger for its change of law provision is unclear." In addition, the North Carolina Utilities Commission, in staying the Verizon TRO amendment arbitration proceeding *indefinitely*, stated that "the FCC rules are under challenge on many fronts. It makes no sense to begin an arbitration where the underlying rules may be changed in midstream." This Commission should come to the same conclusion.

The FCC's well-publicized recent request to the industry that carriers focus their attention on negotiating rather than litigating is further reason why the Commission should dismiss this arbitration. On March 31, 2004, the FCC requested that telecommunications carriers and trade associations begin a period of commercial negotiations to arrive at commercially acceptable arrangements for the availability of unbundled network elements.<sup>25</sup> On April 5, Verizon CEO Ivan Seidenberg advised the FCC that Verizon "support[ed] the Commission's approach" and expressed Verizon's position that "[c]ommercial negotiations are the best way to arrive at appropriate wholesale arrangements, rather than through the

Verizon Maryland Petition for Arbitration of an Amendment to Interconnection Agreements with Competitive Local Exchange Carriers and Commercial Mobile Radio Service Providers in Maryland Pursuant to Section 252 of the Communications Act, as Amended, and the Triennial Review Order, Letter from Felecia L. Greer, Executive Secretary, to David A. Hill, Verizon, at 1 (March 15, 2004) (dismissing Verizon's Petition without prejudice).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> N.C. Order Continuing Proceeding Indefinitely, at 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> FCC News, Press Statement of Chairman Michael K. Powell and Commissioners Kathleen Q. Abernathy, Michael J. Copps, Kevin J. Martin and Jonathan S. Adelstein On Triennial Review Next Steps (rel. Mar. 31. 2004).

regulatory and litigation process."<sup>26</sup> Numerous CLECs and all the major CLEC trade associations have agreed to participate in these negotiations. It would be inefficient and wasteful for the Commission to proceed with this arbitration concomitantly since carriers will be giving a higher priority to negotiating and settling issues at this time. It will be extremely burdensome on the parties, especially smaller CLECs, to arbitrate while industry-wide negotiations are taking place. Indeed, if CLECs are forced to negotiate and arbitrate at the same time, there would unfortunately be a greatly reduced chance that a CLEC would be able to reach any commercial agreement with Verizon. Not only that, but if this arbitration is looming during such negotiations, Verizon will have far less incentive to engage in bona fide good faith negotiations during the negotiations process. At bottom, dismissal of the Petition is consistent with the FCC's request, as well as Verizon's response to the request, because doing so will ensure that carriers focus on negotiations rather than litigation at this time.

Significantly, in the wake of the D.C. Circuit's recent decision in *USTA II*, Verizon has requested that the nine month state Triennial Review implementation proceedings be stayed and has argued that it would be "futile" or even "feckless" for state commissions to continue with such proceedings.<sup>27</sup> While some members of the Coalition do not endorse Verizon's view on a stay of the 9-month case, it certainly would be "feckless" and "futile" to proceed with this arbitration if the impairment proceedings were stayed, because the parties here would be attempting to establish agreement terms to apply in the absence of any guiding law. There is certainly no clarity with respect to what unbundling rules should apply in an arbitration proceeding. Furthermore, because the state of flux of this legal standard, it would be inefficient for the Commission to move forward with these arbitrations knowing that it will have to repeat this process in short order and possibly numerous times until there are final rules in place.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Letter from Ivan Seidenberg, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Verizon to Chairman Powell and FCC Commissioners (April 5, 2004).

Verizon made these assertions in its March 3, 2004 motions to stay the Massachusetts and New Jersey Triennial Review implementation proceedings, D.T.E. 03-60 and Docket No. TO03090705, respectively.

Amazingly, Verizon states in its Petition that its "amendment will bring the agreements into conformity with present law in a manner that does not waste the parties' (or the Commission's) resources on needless technical drafting efforts." However, by forcing the start of an arbitration of a proposed Amendment that Verizon has recently updated to reflect the legal turmoil caused by *USTA II* and because it is expected that this decision will be appealed, Verizon is doing just that – it is forcing parties and the Commission to waste resources on needless technical drafting efforts. Incredibly, Verizon wants this Commission to arbitrate an amendment based on the *TRO* and *USTA II* at the same time it is asking state commissions nationwide *not* to complete their nine-month *TRO* impairment proceedings due to *USTA II*. Verizon's tacking back and forth between what is efficient and what is not is inconsistent and self-serving. The well rooted doctrine of judicial estoppel precludes Verizon from taking such contrary positions.<sup>28</sup> Therefore, dismissal of Verizon's Petition is appropriate at this time.

# D. Verizon's Request to Amend Interconnection Agreements with Rates and Terms Associated with Routine Network Modifications Should be Dismissed.

Apart from dismissing Verizon's Petition for the reasons expressed above, the Commission has separate grounds for dismissing the portions of Verizon's Petition that seek to amend the agreement to reflect rates, terms, and conditions for routine network modifications needed to provision UNEs. In the *TRO*, the FCC did not establish new law regarding Verizon's obligation in this regard but rather clarified that Verizon's refusal to perform such modifications violated existing law.<sup>29</sup> Therefore, no amendment is required because no change of law occurred. Verizon's obligations in this regard are self-effectuating.

With respect to the charges Verizon seeks to assess for routine network modifications, Verizon is already recovering these costs in its UNE rates. Indeed, as discussed herein, the FCC recognizes in the TRO that the costs Verizon seeks to recover in its Petition are often already recovered in Verizon's

See, e.g., Scarano v. Central R.R. Co. of N.J., 203 F.2d 510, 513 (3d Cir. 1953) (doctrine prevents party from assuming inconsistent position); Lowery v. Stovall, 92 F.3d 219, 223 (4th Cir. 1996) judicial estoppel precludes inconsistent allegations); Ergo Science, Inc. v. Martin, 73 F.3d 595, 598 (5th Cir. 1996) (doctrine precludes party from adopting contrary positions); American Nat'l Bank of Jacksonville v. FDIC, 710 F.2d 1528, 1536 (11th Cir. 1983) (doctrine prevents parties' mockery of the justice system by inconsistent pleadings).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> TRO at n.1940 (finding Verizon's no-facilities "policy to be discriminatory on its face").

recurring UNE rates. The FCC stated that "costs associated with modifications may be reflected in the carrier's investment in the network element, and labor costs associated with modification may be recovered as part of the expense associated with that investment (e.g., through application of annual charge factors (ACFs))." The FCC further emphasized that, "[t]he Commission's rules make clear that there may not be any double recovery of these costs ...." TRO at ¶ 640. Moreover, the Virginia State Corporation Commission has already rejected Verizon's attempt in the TRO Amendment to impose additional charges for network modifications, finding that Verizon's costs for these routine modifications are already built into its existing UNE rates and therefore must be provided at no additional charge. See Petition of Cavalier Telephone, Case No. PUC-2002-00088 (Virginia S.C.C. January 28, 2004) at 8. The same holds true here. Therefore, Verizon's Petition to arbitrate rates and terms associated with routine network modifications is unjustified and should be dismissed.

### II. Response to the TRO Amendment Proposed by Verizon

If the Commission does not dismiss Verizon's Petition for the reasons set forth in the preceding section, it must determine whether the amendment terms proposed by Verizon "meet the requirements of section 251 [of the Telecom Act], including the regulations prescribed by the [FCC] pursuant to section 251[.]" 47 USC § 252(c)(1). As explained below, substantial portions of Verizon's proposal do not meet these requirements, and therefore should be modified by the Commission. Accordingly, the Coalition has proposed an alternative amendment that satisfies the requirements of Section 251, the *TRO* and other applicable law, including but limited to *USTA II*.<sup>30</sup>

The format of the Coalition response follows the format used by Verizon in its Petition for Arbitration. As discussed above, Verizon failed to identify adequately each of the issues to be arbitrated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> See Attachment 1, Competitive Carrier Coalition's Proposed Alternative to Verizon's Proposed TRO Amendment ("TRO Attachment"). Verizon has proposed nearly-identical amendments in each of its states. The multi-state Coalition has prepared only one alternative for all of the states for this initial response. To the extent that variation exists between the Verizon template and its proposal to this Commission, the Coalition reserves the right to supplement its alternative accordingly.

in this proceeding. Instead, Verizon offered only short descriptions of the provisions it has proposed to implement the TRO.<sup>31</sup>

#### A. Amendment Terms and Conditions

<u>Verizon's Position:</u> In the event that the D.C. Circuit or the Supreme Court stays any provisions of the *TRO*, any terms and conditions in the TRO Attachment or the Pricing Attachment that relate to the stayed provisions shall be suspended and shall have no force or effect, until the stay is lifted.

Proposed Revisions: The Commission should require that the reservation of rights in Section 6 be reciprocal so that its provisions would apply to both Verizon and the CLEC. It would be unjust and unreasonable to allow provisions of the Agreement, including Verizon's unbundling obligations, to be suspended without providing for reasonable interim replacement terms. Instead, the Coalition proposes that provisions of the agreement affected by judicial review should revert to the terms and conditions in the Agreement prior to the Amendment until revisions can be renegotiated by the parties. This language is necessary to provide some certainty to the parties in the event the *TRO* were reversed or vacated. The Coalition proposal is more just and reasonable under the circumstances. Section 251(c)(3) makes clear that Verizon has *some* obligation to provide non-discriminatory access to unbundled network elements. While the particulars of that requirement are being reassessed by the FCC and the state commissions, the best evidence of Verizon's obligation to provide UNEs is the terms and conditions under which Verizon has already agreed to provide them.

#### B. General Conditions (TRO Attachment § 1)

<u>Verizon Position:</u> Section 1 states that Verizon shall be required to offer UNEs under the terms of the amended agreement only to the extent required by both § 251(c)(3) and Part 51 of the FCC

As indicated above, Verizon filed essentially identical arbitration Petitions in numerous States, and made little or no attempt to conform to state-specific procedural requirements. The Coalition has been forced by Verizon's action to prepare simultaneously responses to these Petitions in numerous States within a very short time, and due to resource constraints has been unable to adapt this response to any specific State procedural requirements. The Coalition respectfully submits that, if this Response violates any State-specific requirements, it is only because Verizon's Petition did so as well, and the proper remedy is to dismiss Verizon's Petition.

rules. The language further specifies that Verizon may decline to offer UNEs if it is not required by both § 251(c)(3) and Part 51 to do so.

Proposed Revisions: The Commission should revise Sections 1.1 and 1.2 of the General Terms and Conditions to preclude Verizon from refusing to provide UNEs that are required by other provisions of applicable law, such as § 271 of the Telecom Act or terms and conditions related to UNEs established by state commissions, and not to limit UNE terms and conditions to only those established by the FCC in the implementation of Section 251(c)(3). Section 252(e)(3) specifically preserves state commission authority to establish or enforce other requirements of state law, and section 252(e)(4)(C) authorizes a state commission to "impos[e] appropriate conditions" to implement the requirements of section 251. Accordingly, Verizon's proposal would not "meet the requirements of Section 251 [of the Telecom Act]," as required by section 252(c), unless it provides for the possibility of additional requirements ordered by this Commission.<sup>32</sup>

The Commission should also revise Section 1.2 to reflect the FCC rules that CLECs may provide additional services using UNEs, and that ILECs may not impose limitations, restrictions, or requirements on requests for, or on the use of UNEs for the service a requesting telecommunications carrier seeks to offer. 47 C.F.R. § 51.309(a). The revisions should also incorporate terms and conditions regarding UNEs established by the FCC in connection with its implementation of Section 271. 47 U.S.C. § 271(c)(2)(B).

The Commission should delete change-of-law language proposed by Verizon in Section 1.3 because the Agreements already have change-of-law provisions. This additional language either conflicts with that existing language, or is superfluous. The Coalition proposal is more "just and reasonable" than Verizon's proposal because Verizon has offered no reason for differing requirements when the law

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Throughout Attachment 1 and for these reasons the Coalition proposes similar revised language wherever Verizon proposed similar limiting language in this regard in the TRO Attachment. *See, e.g.,* Attachment 1, §§ 2.3, 2.4, 2.7, 2.8, 2.18, 2.19, 3.1.1.1, 3.1.1.2, 3.1.2.2, 3.1.3.2, 3.1.3.3, 3.1.4, 3.2.1.1, 3.3.1.2, 3.3.1.2.2, 3.3.2, 3.4.1, 3.4.3, 3.5.1, 3.5.2, 3.5.3, 3.6.1, 3.6.2.1.5, 3.7.1, 3.9.1.

changes with respect to UNEs than with respect to any other aspect of Verizon's obligations under the Telecom Act.

The Coalition proposes a new Section 1.4 to make the reservation of rights by Verizon in Section 1.3 reciprocal to CLECs. There is no reason Verizon should be permitted a reservation of rights without permitting the same to CLECs. Again, Verizon's proposal is not only not "just and reasonable," but it would discriminate against CLECs by not providing them with rights equal to those requested by Verizon.

### C. Glossary (TRO Attachment § 2)

<u>Verizon Position</u>: Verizon's amendment contains a Glossary defining the terms used therein. Verizon asserts that the definitions are derived from the definitions established by the FCC in the *TRO* and are consistent with D.C. Circuit's decision in *USTA II*.

<u>Proposed Revisions</u>: The Coalition proposes definitions of certain additional terms that relate to requirements of the *TRO* that Verizon had omitted from its proposed Amendment. These definitions are: "Dark Fiber Loop", "Enterprise Customer", and "Mass Market Customer". The definitions were derived from language in the *TRO* and its implementing regulations. *See* 47 C.F.R. §§ 51.319(a)(6) (dark fiber loops); *TRO* ¶ 497 (mass market customers and enterprise customers).

The Commission should also revise certain other definitions to be consistent with the *TRO*. Section 2.4, "Dedicated Transport", should include interoffice facilities between a Verizon wire center and a CLEC wire center if Verizon has deployed interconnection facilities in the CLEC wire center. This concept of "reverse collocation" is found in the FCC rules. Verizon's definition seems to be based on paragraph 369 of the *TRO*, which states that "we limit the dedicated transport network element to those incumbent LEC transmission facilities dedicated to a particular customer or carrier that provide telecommunications between switches or wire centers owned by incumbent LECs." *TRO* ¶ 369. However, Verizon ignores footnote 1126 to this text, which states that ILEC transport may be unbundled as UNEs to reverse collocations where "an incumbent LEC has local switching equipment, as defined by the Commission's rules." Taken together, these provisions of the *TRO* indicate that a CLEC wire center

in which the ILEC has collocated switching equipment must be treated the same as an ILEC wire center in the definition of dedicated transport. The specific language proposed by the Coalition is derived from footnote 1183 defining "reverse collocation."

The Commission should revise Verizon's references to its internal publications in Sections 2.7 and 2.8 (Verizon's Sections 2.6 and 2.7), the definitions of "DS1 Loops" and "DS3 Loops," to make clear that such publications may not be applied in any manner that is inconsistent with provisions of the Agreement or applicable law. This proposed revision is more "just and reasonable" than Verizon's proposal, which appears to allow Verizon to revise its technical publications at any time in any manner it sees fit. The Coalition proposal provides more fairness and certainty for CLECs, and reduces the likelihood of anticompetitive conduct by Verizon.

The Commission should also revise Section 2.10, "Enterprise Switching," to be more precise. Verizon's proposal defined Enterprise Switching as switching "for the purpose of serving" customers using DS1 or above capacity loops. The Coalition proposal eliminates the ambiguous "purpose" requirement and replaces it with a more objective standard of "to serve" Enterprise Customers. The latter proposal is more "just and reasonable" because it provides for more certainty. Rather than examining the "purpose" of a CLEC's particular use of UNE switching, the Coalition proposal draws a bright line at switching actually used to serve Enterprise Customers. The definition of Enterprise Switching also incorporates the definition of Enterprise Customers described below.

The Commission should also revise the definition of "Enterprise Switching" to reflect that this term does not include stand-alone Tandem Switching. Verizon has a general obligation under the *TRO* to provide unbundled switching, including Tandem Switching. 47 C.F.R. § 51.319(d). Verizon's proposal is not just and reasonable because it would exclude all Tandem Switching, which would be contrary to the FCC regulations.

The Commission should revise the definitions of "FTTH Loop" and "Hybrid Loop" to encompass only loops to a Mass Market Customer. The FCC's discussion of FTTH Loops, *TRO* ¶¶ 273-284, and Hybrid Loops, *TRO* ¶¶ 285-297, was limited to their provision to Mass Market Customers. Verizon's

proposal would expand the restrictions on FTTH Loops to all customers, when that was clearly not contemplated or required by the *TRO*. For example, the *TRO*'s extensive discussion of dark fiber loops would be rendered meaningless if the FCC intended to eliminate the unbundling requirements for fiber loops to both mass market and enterprise customers. Thus, Verizon's proposal would be inconsistent with the FCC regulations implementing Section 251, as required by Section 252(c).

The Coalition also proposes that definitions of "House and Riser Cable" and "Sub-Loop for Multiunit Premises Access" should be revised to be consistent with language in the *TRO* regarding FTTH loops. Under Verizon's proposal, any subloop in a FTTH loop would not be subject to unbundling, whereas the *TRO* limited this exception only to the fiber optic facility in a FTTH loop. Rule 51.319(a)(3) explains that a FTTH loop "consists entirely of fiber optic cable," in which case there should be no subloops. To the extent subloops are attached to FTTH facilities, they are not FTTH loops and they would be subject to subloop unbundling requirements. Verizon's proposal would not be consistent with the FCC regulations implementing Section 251.

Consistent with the definition of Enterprise Switching above, the Commission should adopt a definition of "Mass Market Customer". Based upon the *TRO* discussion of the "mass market" and "enterprise" concepts, and the existing the four-line carve out rule, the Coalition proposes to define Mass Market Customer as any residential customer, and any business customer with an aggregate telecommunications capacity of less than 4 DS0s (regardless of the technology used). All other retail and wholesale business customers would be defined as Enterprise Customers.

Likewise, the Commission should require that the definition of "Nonconforming Facility" be revised to be consistent with language in the *TRO* regarding availability of the Feeder portion of the Loop UNE for TDM and narrowband applications. Verizon's proposal would conflict with language elsewhere in the Amendment that acknowledges that Verizon must provide the Feeder portion of the Loop as a UNE in certain circumstances. In addition, the inclusion of Feeder as a Nonconforming Facility was revised to limit such inclusion to fiber Feeder provisioned to serve a Mass Market Customer, in accordance with the terms of the *TRO*. The FCC's discussion of fiber Feeder subloops, ¶ 253, was limited to their provision to

Mass Market Customers. Finally, the Commission should reject Verizon's inference that unbundling obligations could be eliminated in a legally binding manner by some means other than a final and non-appealable finding of non-impairment by the Commission or the FCC. Verizon has identified no such third means of eliminating its legal obligation, and in any case, this hypothetical possibility can be addressed if and when it becomes necessary through the Agreement's change of law provisions.

The Commission should also revise this definition to remove certain restrictions on EELs provided by Verizon prior to the effective date of the *TRO*, October 2, 2003. Under Verizon's proposal, any EEL provided prior to October 2, 2003 must satisfy the eligibility criteria established as of October 2, 2003. This eligibility requirement is not required by the *TRO*. Paragraph 589 of the *TRO* provides with respect to EELs:

As a final matter, we decline to require retroactive billing to any time before the effective date of this Order. The eligibility criteria we adopt in this Order supersede the safe harbors that applied to EEL conversions in the past. To the extent pending requests have not been converted, however, competitive LECs are entitled to the appropriate pricing up to the effective date of this Order.

This language establishes that (1) if a circuit qualifies under the new standards but did not qualify under the old standards, a CLEC cannot recover the excessive charges prior to the effective date; (2) if a circuit does not qualify under the new standards but did qualify under the old standards, the ILEC may not recover past losses; and (3) EELs may continue to be provided under the old standards up to the effective date.

The third sentence in the paragraph indicates that the FCC envisions a dual-track EEL qualification system. To illustrate, a request pending at the time of the *TRO* would have been submitted under the old "safe harbors" eligibility criteria. Those circuits would be entitled to be priced at "the appropriate pricing" applicable to those circuits at the time; *i.e.*, the pricing applicable to circuits that satisfied the former eligibility criteria. The language suggests that a CLEC may "lock in" the appropriate pricing for the circuit. By locking in the appropriate price, some circuits would continue to qualify as

EELs under the old standards, while other circuits would have to satisfy the new standards before being priced at UNE rates.

The Coalition also proposes that Section 2.17 in Verizon's proposal, "Packet Switching", should be relocated to Section 3.1.3.1. This definition is discussed as part of that section below.

The definition of "Route" should also be revised to reflect "reverse collocation" arrangements that would qualify an interoffice transport facility as a UNE as discussed above with respect to Dedicated Transport. Furthermore, Verizon's parenthetical in the definition "(or as applicable, a class or grouping of such transmission paths in a particular market)" should be deleted. Verizon submits that this modification reflects the D.C. Circuit's reversal of the FCC's route-specific market definition for analyzing impairment with respect to high-capacity facilities. Contrary to Verizon's contentions, *USTA II* did not redefine the FCC's definition rather it held that the FCC did not explore certain alternatives when the FCC established its route-specific impairment analysis of dedicated transport.<sup>33</sup>

# D. Loops (TRO Attachment § 3.1)

<u>Proposed Revisions</u>: Verizon's proposal does not address DS0 loops. Language should be added, derived from Rule 51.319(a)(1), to state Verizon's general obligation to provide unbundled access to all loops, and to make clear that Verizon must continue to provide DS0 UNE loops. This revision is necessary in order for the Amendment's discussion of loops to be consistent with the FCC rules implementing section 251, as required by section 252(c).

# 1. High Capacity Loops (TRO Attachment § 3.1.1)

<u>Verizon's Position</u>: Verizon's draft amendment states that it would allow CLECs to obtain unbundled access to DS1 and DS3 loops only to the extent required by federal law (251(c)(3) and Part 51). Verizon would, however, limit CLECs to only two unbundled DS3 loops (or their equivalent) to any single end-user location. Verizon's obligation to provide unbundled DS1 and DS3 loops to a specific end-user location would terminate if the Commission finds, pursuant to the procedures prescribed by the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> USTA II, slip op. at 29.

FCC, that there is no impairment on the route to that location. Any DS1 or DS3 loops previously made available to CLEC at the subject end user location shall be considered Nonconforming Facilities immediately on the effective date of the non-impairment finding and thereafter.

Proposed Revisions: The Commission should revise Sections 3.1.1.1 and 3.1.1.2, and add new Section 3.1.1.3, to clarify that Verizon must provide access to UNEs in accordance with all applicable state and federal law, and not only selected federal laws. Section 252(e)(3) specifically preserves state commission authority to establish or enforce other requirements of state law, and section 252(e)(4)(C) authorizes a state commission to "impos[e] appropriate conditions" to implement the requirements of section 251. Accordingly, Verizon's proposal would not "meet the requirements of Section 251 [of the Telecom Act]," as required by section 252(c) unless it provides for the possibility of additional requirements ordered by this Commission.<sup>34</sup>

The Commission should approve the Coalition's new section 3.1.1.3, Dark Fiber Loops, which has been added to make clear that Verizon must provide Dark Fiber Loops as required by paragraphs 311-314 of the *TRO* and Rule 51.319(a)(6). Verizon's proposal would not satisfy section 252(c) because it is not consistent with the FCC regulations implementing section 251.

New subsections 3.1.1.3.1 and 3.1.1.3.2 set forth terms necessary for the effective implementation of Verizon's dark fiber unbundling obligations, including terms for accurate determination of available facilities through a Dark Fiber Inquiry process and field surveys. These terms are based upon the FCC's determinations in the Cavalier-Verizon Virginia arbitration.<sup>35</sup> Because the FCC applied the same standards for arbitration that this Commission must apply pursuant to section 252(c), the Coalition

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> As noted previously and for these reasons, the Coalition proposes similar revised language wherever Verizon proposed its limiting language in this regard in the TRO Attachment. *See supra* note 32.

Petition of Cavalier Telephone LLC Pursuant to Section 252(e)(5) of the Communications Act for Preemption of the Jurisdiction of the Virginia State Corporation Commission Regarding Interconnection Disputes with Verizon Virginia, Inc. and for Arbitration, WC Docket No. 02-359, Memorandum Opinion and Order, DA 03-3947 (rel. Dec. 12, 2003) ("FCC Cavalier Arbitration Decision").

proposal adopting language from the Cavalier-Verizon arbitration proceeding is consistent with federal law and should be approved.

Further, the Commission should revise Section 3.1.1.4, "Nonimpairment," as follows: (1) the reservation of rights should be made reciprocal. As discussed above, non-reciprocal terms are neither just and reasonable nor non-discriminatory. (2) The section should be clarified to refer only to the rights and obligations of the parties under Section 251 of the Act. Because the Act requires an impairment analysis only for UNEs, obligations under other provisions should not be altered as a result of a finding of nonimpairment. This revision is necessary for the Amendment to be consistent with section 251 of the Act. (3) The phrase "or class or grouping of locations in a particular" should be deleted from the types of loops that Verizon would not have to provide on an unbundled basis. The TRO requires an analysis of impairment for high capacity local loops on a customer-location basis. 47 C.F.R. § 51.319(a)(5). It does not provide for "classes of locations" to be considered as a basis for non-impairment. This revision is necessary to be consistent with the FCC regulations implementing section 251. Moreover, USTA II did not address high-capacity loops in its decision, let alone redefine the FCC's route-specific definition for analyzing impairment with respect to them. (4) In conjunction with edits to Section 3.9 (Verizon's Section 3.8), discussed below, the transition process in the event of the withdrawal of any UNEs should be revised to initiate only after a change in law is final and non-appealable. The Coalition proposal is "just and reasonable" because it reduces unnecessary litigation and disruption to CLECs and their customers during periods in which the law is in flux and the UNEs designated for withdrawal could be restored.

# 2. Fiber to the Home ("FTTH") Loops (TRO Attachment § 3.1.2), Hybrid Loops (TRO Attachment § 3.1.3-.4), and Line Sharing (TRO Attachment § 3.2)

<u>Verizon's Position:</u> The language in Verizon's amendment seeks to implement its interpretation of the new rules regarding these facilities.

<u>Proposed Revisions:</u> The Commission should revise Section 3.1.2.2, Overbuilds, to add additional criteria that must be satisfied in order for Verizon to assert that a FTTH loop does not have to

be provided on an unbundled basis. The language proposed is derived from paragraph 277 of the *TRO* and from FCC Rule 51.319(a)(3). The proposed change is necessary in order for the Amendment to comply with FCC regulations implementing section 251.

Sections 3.1.3.2 and 3.1.3.3, regarding Hybrid Loops, should also be revised to be consistent with applicable FCC Rule 51.319(a)(2)(ii) and (iii). Verizon's proposal misstated language from the rule and, among other things, removed the word "nondiscriminatory."

The Commission should revise Section 3.1.4.1, regarding IDLC Hybrid Loops, to remove language regarding a particular non-recurring charge. The section already states that standard recurring and non-recurring Loop charges will apply. Verizon's proposal is not necessary unless the proposed charges are non-standard non-recurring charges, in which case Verizon has no basis to impose them on CLECs. The Coalition proposal is "just and reasonable" because it prevents Verizon from imposing unwarranted and unnecessary expenses on competitive carriers.

Section 3.1.4.2, regarding IDLC Hybrid Loops, should require that Verizon must provide unbundled access to hybrid loops served by IDLC systems by using a "hairpin" option; *i.e.*, configuring a semi-permanent path and disabling certain switching functions. This option is required by footnote 855 of the *TRO*.

The Commission should delete language from Sections 3.1.4.3 and 3.1.4.4, regarding IDLC Hybrid Loops, that has no basis in the *TRO*. Verizon's proposal requires CLECs to pay for charges that were not authorized by the *TRO*. Further, Verizon's language attempts to shield Verizon from provisioning intervals and performance measurement requirements. None of these proposed provisions are "just and reasonable" because they impose unlawful charges on competitive carriers and they protect Verizon from full compliance with its provisioning obligations.

Section 3.2.1 should also be revised to remove the statement that Verizon has no obligation to provide Line Sharing. As indicated by the section itself, Verizon does have a limited obligation to provide Line Sharing. Other language referring to a separate agreement was removed on the grounds that applicable Rule 51.319(a)(1)(i)(B) provides a sufficient basis to determine the rights of the parties

regarding Line Sharing. The Coalition proposal would more clearly implement the FCC regulations regarding Verizon's Section 251 obligations.

The Coalition has also proposed moving Verizon's definition of Packet Switching from the Glossary to Section 3.1.3.1. This is the only section in the amendment where the term "Packet Switching" is used. The Coalition has proposed its inclusion here so that it may note that has agreed to this definition only because it was adopted by the FCC in 47 C.F.R. § 51.319(a)(2)(i). The Coalition believes that it is inappropriate to classify DSLAM functionality as "packet switching," and reserves its right to so argue in future proceedings.

### E. Subloops (TRO Attachment § 3.3)

<u>Verizon's Position:</u> The language in Verizon's amendment seeks to implement Verizon's interpretation of the new rules regarding these facilities.

Proposed Revisions: The Commission should require Section 3.3, Subloops, to be substantially revised because Verizon proposed language that had no basis in the *TRO*. The Coalition proposes instead that Verizon be required to provide Subloops to the extent required by any applicable Verizon tariff or SGAT, and any applicable federal and state commission rules, regulations, and orders. Some state commissions, and in particular the New York Public Service Commission, have completed thorough proceedings regarding Subloops, especially regarding House and Riser facilities in multi-tenant buildings. Verizon's proposal would have the effect of rendering all of those proceedings irrelevant. Instead, Verizon should be required to return to those state commissions and seek whatever changes to those state commission requirements that may be necessary, if any, to make them consistent with state and federal law. As discussed above, Verizon is obligated to comply with any additional state law requirements or conditions imposed by state commissions in the course of an arbitration. Verizon's proposal would have the effect of avoiding these obligations.

Section 3.1.3.4, Feeder, should be revised to reflect that only fiber Feeder subloops to Mass Market Customers were affected by the *TRO*. The FCC's discussion of fiber Feeder subloops, ¶ 253, was

limited to their provision to Mass Market Customers. Accordingly, the Coalition Proposal is consistent with the FCC regulations implementing section 251.

# F. Circuit Switching (TRO Attachment § 3.4.1-3.4.2)

Verizon's Position: Under Verizon's proposed amendment, CLECs are entitled to obtain unbundled access to mass-market circuit switching as 251(c)(3) and Part 51 require. CLECs may not, however, obtain switching for providing service to enterprise customers or to any customers subject to the "four-line carve out" rule. The draft amendment follows the FCC's transitional rules for CLECs currently obtaining circuit switching to serve enterprise customers by allowing them 90 days to move their customers to alternative service arrangements. In addition, Verizon's proposed language (in Verizon's Section 3.8.1.2) requires it to provide "at least thirty (30) days advanced written notice of the date on which Verizon will cease provisioning Enterprise Switching" to any given CLEC. Verizon also has offered to "continue provisioning Enterprise Switching to the CLEC under the terms of the Amended Agreement during a transitional period, which transitional period shall end on the date set forth in the notice." Finally, the amendment provides that Verizon's obligation to supply mass market switching will end (subject to an applicable "rolling access" plan) if the board issues a finding of non-impairment.

<u>Proposed Revisions:</u> The Commission should require Section 3.4, Unbundled Local Circuit Switching, to be revised to require Verizon to provide stand-alone Tandem Switching. Nothing in the *TRO* permits Verizon to avoid its obligation to provide stand-alone Tandem Switching on an unbundled basis. In fact, Rule 51.319(d) requires Verizon to provide non-discriminatory access to local switching, including tandem switching, on an unbundled basis. Verizon's proposal omits this requirement.

The section should also be revised to remove the limitation proposed by Verizon that it provide unbundled local circuit switching only to the extent required by Section 251(c)(3) and the FCC local competition rules. Verizon's obligations regarding UNEs are not so limited because they are derived not only from Section 251(c)(3), but also from other sources, including orders from state commissions imposing additional requirements, FCC decisions outside the context of local competition (such as merger approval orders), and other sections of the Telecom Act (such as Section 271). As discussed above, in

order for the Amendment to be consistent with section 251 and the FCC regulations implementing section 251, the language regarding Verizon's obligations to provide UNEs must reflect other requirements imposed by state and federal regulators. In any case, this paragraph is superfluous because the extent of Verizon's obligations is already described in section 1.2 of the TRO Attachment.

Further, the word "conditional" in section 3.4.1 should be deleted because it is superfluous. Verizon is obligated to provide switching in accordance with applicable law. There is nothing conditional about this obligation.

Section 3.4.2, "Nonimpairment," should be revised to add specificity to the transitional "rolling" access to unbundled switching. This proposed language is derived from Rule 51.319(d)(2)(iii). As revised, the proposed language would be consistent with the applicable FCC regulations.

# G. Signaling/Databases (TRO Attachment § 3.4.3)

<u>Verizon's Position:</u> The language in Verizon's amendment seeks to implement Verizon's interpretation of the new rules regarding these facilities.

<u>Proposed Revisions:</u> Apart from requiring Verizon to offer services pursuant to applicable law (as previously discussed), the Coalition has no other proposed revisions to this section of the Amendment.

# H. Interoffice Facilities (TRO Attachment § 3.5)

<u>Verizon's Position (Verizon at 19-21):</u> The language in Verizon's amendment seeks to implement its interpretation of the FCC rules established in the *TRO* regarding these facilities.

<u>Proposed Revisions:</u> The Commission should revise Section 3.5.2.1, Dedicated Transport, and Section 3.5.3, Dark Fiber Transport, to include interoffice facilities between a Verizon wire center and a CLEC wire center if Verizon had deployed interconnection facilities in the CLEC wire center. This concept of "reverse collocation" is discussed above under the definition of "Dedicated Transport" in the Glossary (Section 2), and the change here is appropriate for the same reasons.

A new section to the Amendment, 3.5.4, should be added regarding interconnection facilities between a CLEC wire center and the ILEC wire center in which the CLEC has established a point of interconnection ("POI"). The proposed language makes clear that interconnection facilities and

equipment provided pursuant to section 251(c)(2) are not UNEs provided pursuant to section 251(c)(3), and the rights and obligations applicable to § 251(c)(3) UNEs are not applicable to § 251(c)(2) interconnection facilities. This result is made clear by paragraph 365 of the *TRO*. The FCC explained that "transmission facilities connecting incumbent LEC networks to competitive LEC networks for the purpose of backhauling traffic" were "[u]nlike the facilities that incumbent LECs explicitly must make available for section 251(c)(2) interconnection." Thus, the FCC distinguished facilities provided as UNEs under section 251(c)(3) from interconnection facilities provided under section 251(c)(2).

Even though section 251(c)(2) interconnection facilities are not UNEs, they must be provided under the same pricing principles as UNEs. They are also subject to the same section 252 arbitration provisions as UNEs, so it is appropriate to deal with them in this proceeding. Section 251(c)(2)(D) requires interconnection facilities to be provided "on rates, terms, and conditions that are just, reasonable, and nondiscriminatory, in accordance with ... the requirements of this section and Section 252." This is identical to the pricing standard for UNEs found at section 251(c)(3), which must be provided "on rates, terms, and conditions that are just, reasonable, and nondiscriminatory in accordance with ... the requirements of this section and Section 252." The pricing standards under Section 252(d)(1) apply specifically and equally to section 251(c)(2) interconnection facilities and section 251(c)(3) network element charges. The pricing standard developed by the FCC to implement section 252(d) is TELRIC. Thus, the facilities provided by Verizon to interconnect in order to exchange traffic with a CLEC, such as interconnection trunks between a Verizon wire center and the CLEC wire center, are interconnection facilities under section 251(c)(2) that must be provided at TELRIC.

The Coalition proposes adding new subsections 3.5.3.1.1 and 3.5.3.1.2 to set forth terms necessary for the effective implementation of Verizon's dark fiber transport unbundling obligations, including terms for accurate determination of available facilities through a Dark Fiber Inquiry process and field surveys. These terms are based upon the FCC's determinations in the Cavalier-Verizon Virginia

arbitration.<sup>36</sup> These terms were ordered by the FCC in an arbitration proceeding conducted under section 252 and are consistent with section 251 and 252 of the Act.

# I. Combinations and Commingling (TRO Attachment § 3.6)

<u>Verizon's Position:</u> Verizon's amendment seeks to implement Verizon's interpretation of the FCC rules established in the *TRO* regarding these facilities.

Proposed Revisions: The Coalition proposes that Section 3.6.1, Commingling, be revised to be consistent with the TRO. First, language proposed by Verizon regarding prohibitions on commingling has been deleted as unnecessary. To the extent commingling is prohibited in the future, the Agreement can be modified under the terms of the change-of-law provisions. As a result, the Coalition proposal is just and reasonable. Second, Verizon's proposal to impose a non-recurring charge for commingling of elements has been deleted because such charges are specifically prohibited by paragraph 587 of the TRO. Third, Verizon's proposal that provisioning intervals or performance measurements not apply to commingled network elements has been deleted because there is no basis in the TRO for the language proposed by Verizon. There is no reason to treat commingled network elements apart from other network elements in terms of provisioning intervals or performance measurements. Verizon's proposal does not satisfy its obligation to offer just and reasonable terms of service.

The Commission should revise Section 3.6.2.1, regarding service eligibility criteria, to reflect that EELs that were provided prior to October 2, 2003 are not required to satisfy the eligibility criteria established by the *TRO*. As discussed above, paragraph 589 of the *TRO* makes clear that the FCC envisioned two tracks of EELs eligibility.

Section 3.6.2.2 must be substantially revised to be consistent with the *TRO*. In this section, Verizon seeks to impose onerous eligibility requirements that a CLEC must satisfy before it may obtain EELs. Nothing in the *TRO* requires a CLEC to provide the sort of information demanded by Verizon. A CLEC is only required to certify that it satisfies the eligibility criteria of Rule 318(b) for each DS1 circuit

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> FCC Cavalier Arbitration Decision, ¶¶ 103-113.

or DS1 equivalent. If Verizon seeks to contest the CLEC certification, it may exercise its audit rights. The changes proposed are necessary to make the Amendment consistent with the *TRO*.

Section 3.6.2.3 should be deleted in its entirety and Section 3.6.2.5 should be revised to remove references to certain non-recurring charges related to EELs. In these sections, Verizon seeks to impose a type of non-recurring charge that was specifically prohibited by paragraph 587 of the *TRO*.

Section 3.6.2.6 should also be deleted in its entirety. In this section, Verizon seeks to exclude all conversions of special access circuits into EELs from provisioning intervals and performance measurement requirements. To the extent such requirements apply to EEL conversions, nothing in the *TRO* permits Verizon to treat them as Verizon proposes. Verizon's proposal is not just and reasonable because it seeks to shield Verizon from its provisioning and performance standards.

The Commission should also require Section 3.6.2.7, regarding Audits for compliance with the service eligibility criteria, to be substantially revised to be consistent with the TRO. First, Verizon is entitled only to one audit of a CLEC's books in a 12-month period, not once per calendar year as Verizon has proposed. The TRO refers to an "annual audit." TRO ¶ 626. In order for an audit to be considered "annual," a full year would have to elapse between audits. Under Verizon's proposal, Verizon could audit a CLEC's books in December, and then audit again in January of the following year. In that case, the two audits would be separated by a month, not by a year as the term "annual audit" requires. Second, Verizon's proposed allocation of responsibilities of payment for the auditor is not consistent with the TRO. Verizon's proposal was biased in Verizon's favor, and thus not just or reasonable. Third, Verizon's proposal that a CLEC keep books and records for a period of eighteen (18) months is not supported by anything in the TRO. The proposed interval is unreasonably long and unduly burdensome.

# J. Routine Network Modifications (TRO Attachment § 3.7)

<u>Verizon's Position:</u> Verizon's proposed Section 3.7 offers a minimalist and incomplete reflection of the FCC's clarification of its rules in the *TRO* that reaffirmed Verizon's obligation to perform routine network modifications on behalf of CLECs on a nondiscriminatory basis pursuant to Section 251.

<u>Proposed Revisions:</u> The Coalition has proposed more detailed terms to better assure the effectuation of the requirements of the Act as reemphasized by the *TRO*.<sup>37</sup> Verizon's well-established record of evasion of its obligations, which the FCC explicitly condemned in the *TRO*, necessitates more detailed rules to enable verification and enforcement of Verizon's obligations. See *TRO* at fn. 1940, finding Verizon's policy "discriminatory on its face."

Accordingly, the Coalition's proposed Section 3.7.1 more clearly reflects Verizon's legal obligations. The Commission should reject Verizon's apparent attempt to continue to discriminate in provisioning of Dark Fiber Loop and Transport UNEs, and adopt the Coalition's terms that apply the nondiscrimination terms to all elements. *See TRO* at ¶ 638 (finding that the network modification rules apply to all transmission facilities, including dark fiber).

In addition, the Commission should reject Verizon's attempt to double-recover its supposed costs for performing routine network modifications. While the *TRO* permits Verizon to recover its costs, it recognizes that these costs are often already recovered by an ILEC's recurring UNE rates. The FCC found that "costs associated with modifications may be reflected in the carrier's investment in the network element, and labor costs associated with modification may be recovered as part of the expense associated with that investment (*e.g.*, through application of annual charge factors (ACFs))." Continuing, the FCC held that its "rules make clear that there may not be any double recovery of these costs ...." *TRO* at ¶ 640. The Virginia State Corporation Commission has already rejected Verizon's attempt in the *TRO* Amendment to impose additional charges for network modifications, finding that Verizon's costs for these routine modifications are already built into its existing UNE rates and therefore must be provided at no additional charge. *See Petition of Cavalier Telephone*, Case No. PUC-2002-00088 (Virginia S.C.C. January 28, 2004) at 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> As stated in Section I of this Response, Verizon's obligation to perform routine network modifications was required by existing law prior to the release of the *TRO*, and therefore is not an appropriate subject for arbitration under change-of-law clauses. The Commission should delete proposed Section 3.7 from the amendment for this reason. By submitting alternative language for the Commission's consideration in the event that it does not dismiss Verizon's Petition, the Coalition does not waive its argument that this language is not properly subject to arbitration.

The Commission should also reject Verizon's baseless proposal in Section 3.7.2 to exempt UNEs requiring routine modifications from the performance plan adopted by the Commission. It would be nonsensical to abandon the performance plan, one of the Commission's principal mechanisms for curbing discrimination, for a category of UNEs for which Verizon has been singled out by the FCC for its record of intentional discrimination. Verizon's proposal is tantamount to a suggestion that corporations found guilty of securities fraud should receive a special exemption from further SEC investigations. Thus, the Commission should deny Verizon's thinly-veiled attempt to continue its practice of discrimination with respect to network modifications, and should instead adopt the Coalition's modified version of Section 3.7.2.

In view of Verizon's record of discrimination and evasion of its obligations, the Commission should adopt additional measures to reduce the likelihood that a CLEC UNE request will continue to be improperly denied on the basis of no facilities. In view of the FCC's clarification of Verizon's obligation to perform routine network modifications, rejected orders should be at most a rare occurrence. Under the Coalition's proposed Section 3.7.3, if Verizon rejects a UNE request on the basis of no facilities, it would be required to provide detailed information, including the location of all facilities that were reviewed in making the determination; a description and estimated cost of non-routine modifications that would be necessary to fulfill the UNE request, and a proposed timetable and charge to the CLEC for the non-routine modifications that would be sufficient to provision the requested facility. This exercise will reduce the probability of error, assist all parties in the identification of alternative solutions, and facilitate enforcement by greatly increasing the transparency of the process.

The Coalition's proposed Section 3.7.4 would serve as an additional protective measure to ensure that Verizon does not continue to unlawfully discriminate against CLECs. Where a CLEC UNE request is denied on the basis of no facilities available, Verizon would for a 24-month period have a continuing obligation to advise the CLEC within 60 days if and when Verizon later provides any retail or wholesale services to any customer at the same premises that were the subject of CLEC's request using facilities that were, at the time of the CLEC request, deemed unavailable to CLEC. This notification shall include, at a

minimum, a description of all work that was performed in the interim period that enabled service to be offered over the facility. In the absence of such a provision, it would be extremely difficult for CLEC and the Commission to identify and prosecute instances in which Verizon has unlawfully discriminated in its provisioning. If Verizon fails to so notify CLEC, or if it can subsequently be determined by Verizon, the CLEC or the Commission that the facility should have been made available to the CLEC at the time of its request, Verizon shall pay to CLEC a performance remedy of \$1000 per incident, in addition to and not exclusive of all other available remedies. Given Verizon's record of noncompliance, meaningful and enforceable penalties are necessary to incent Verizon to comply with its obligations.

# K. Section 271 Obligations (TRO Attachment New Section § 3.8)

<u>Verizon's Position:</u> Verizon did not propose terms to govern its obligations under Section 271 of the Act.

Proposed Revisions: The Coalition has proposed terms to secure its rights under Section 271(c)(2)(B) of the Act with respect to facilities that Verizon is no longer required to offer under Section 251. Inclusion of these terms in the interconnection agreement is necessary to enable reasonable transition terms for affected UNEs. Verizon's exclusion of these terms from the proposed Amendment is merely the latest incantation of its position that Section 271 does not impose any independent obligation to provide access to certain network elements. Verizon's position has been repeatedly rejected by the FCC, most recently in the TRO. See TRO ¶ 653 ("we continue to believe that the requirements of Section 271(c)(2)(B) establish an independent obligation for the BOCs to provide access to loops, switching, transport and signaling regardless of any unbundling analysis under Section 251."); see also TRO at ¶¶ 652, 654-655 (rejecting Verizon's arguments).

The Coalition proposes in Section 3.8.2 the continued utilization of the TELRIC-based rates set forth in the parties' Agreement for network elements provided pursuant to Section 271. The Coalition is mindful of the FCC's determination in the *TRO* that state commissions are not required to apply the pricing standards of Section 252 to these facilities. However, Verizon has not proposed alternative rates in its Amendment, nor has it provided any cost support information to establish that different rates would

be just and reasonable as required by the *TRO*. Therefore, the rates established by the Commission in its prior UNE cost proceedings, which are already a part of the parties' Agreements, remain the most suitable, presumptively lawful pricing scheme available for the Commission to adopt in this proceeding. Given that existing contract rates are a viable alternative, it would be unnecessary and inefficient for the Commission to conduct a new evidentiary cost proceeding for these network elements, especially when Verizon has not even proposed rates or a cost study. The Coalition's Section 3.8.2 therefore should be adopted.

Finally, in Section 3.8.3, the Coalition proposes that Verizon continue to be required to provide combinations of network elements provided pursuant to Section 271. Even if these elements are not subject to nondiscrimination standards of Section 251, they remain subject to the requirements of state law and of Sections 201 and 202. Any refusal to provide such combinations to CLECs, even as it performs them for its own affiliates and operations, would be unreasonable and discriminatory in violation of these applicable standards. The Coalition's Section 3.8.3 is necessary to ensure that Verizon's provisioning of Section 271 elements is reasonable and nondiscriminatory.

# L. Non-Conforming Facilities (TRO Attachment § 3.9 (Verizon Section § 3.8))

<u>Verizon's Position:</u> The language in Verizon's amendment seeks to establish transition rules for facilities that are no longer available as UNEs; *i.e.*, where CLECs are deemed not impaired without access to the facilities.

Proposed Revisions: The CLEC coalition proposes substantial revisions to Section 3.9.2, Other Nonconforming Facilities, to provide a reasonable transition period for UNEs that are no longer to be provided on an unbundled basis. The FCC "expect[ed] states will require an appropriate period for competitive LECs to transition from [UNEs] that the state finds should no longer be unbundled. *TRO* ¶¶ 339, 417. Verizon's proposed transition terms are inadequate and unreasonable.

Section 3.9.2 modifies Verizon's proposed Section 3.8.2 to create a series of prerequisites before Verizon could revoke a CLEC's existing unbundled access to a facility. <u>First</u>, Verizon should be required to wait until the elimination of a particular UNE was final and non-appealable. While the *TRO* urges

timely implementation of its terms, actions that strip existing UNEs from CLECs while appeals remain pending would only produce unnecessary litigation, confusion and disruption. As demonstrated most recently by the D.C. Circuit's USAT II decision reversing and remanding portions of the TRO, rushed implementation while appeals remain pending would likely result in premature deprivation and disruption that would disserve the purposes of the Act or the public interest. Second, the section should require Verizon's notification letter to identify Nonconforming Facilities individually by circuit identification number for circuits, or other comparable identifying descriptions for other facilities. In the absence of such a requirement, it would be more likely that Verizon would make errors in the designation of Nonconforming Facilities, and more likely that CLEC would misinterpret which facilities were in fact scheduled for transition. Provision of this information would assist all parties and would reduce the likelihood that disputes and complaints would need to be brought to the commission. Third, for facilities that can be converted to an alternative Section 271 offering or a special access service, Verizon should be required to continue to provide the UNE for at least 90 days after providing notice to the CLEC; for all other facilities, Verizon must continue to offer the facility for at least 180 days, to allow the CLEC a reasonable opportunity to procure or construct alternative facilities. Fourth, where Nonconforming Facilities are terminated or are converted to alternative arrangements, Verizon should be prohibited from charging the CLEC for conversion or termination fees for this involuntary conversion, or for installation of the "new" converted service. Verizon will have been compensated once for installing the facility, and should not be compensated a second time for making a mere billing conversion. Fifth, Verizon should be prohibited from terminating any UNE if there is a pending dispute as to whether the UNE is Nonconforming. Under Verizon's proposal, a CLEC would have no timely recourse if Verizon were to make an erroneous designation of a facility as Nonconforming. The Coalition proposal would prevent Verizon from terminating the UNE pending resolution of CLEC's good faith challenge to the designation.

Verizon's proposed section 3.8.3 regarding Nonconforming Facilities should be deleted in its entirety as being inconsistent with the requirements of the Act. Verizon proposes that any negotiations to provide a service or facility to replace a nonconforming facility should not be considered a negotiation

under Section 251 of the Act, and therefore not subject to arbitration under Section 252. The TRO expressly affirmed the negotiation and arbitration process of Section 252 as the appropriate means of implementing any changes to the parties' agreements with respect to unbundled network elements. See  $TRO \P 701$ .

# M. Pricing Attachment to TRO Amendment

<u>Verizon's Position:</u> The language in Verizon's Pricing Attachment seeks to implement the FCC rules established in the *TRO* regarding these facilities.

Proposed Revisions: Because Verizon's costs for routine network modifications are already recovered by their existing TELRIC cost studies that were used to calculate UNE rates under the Agreement, as discussed under Section 3.7 above, a Pricing Attachment is unnecessary. In the event that the Commission concludes that existing TELRIC rates do not contemplate a particular type of modification, the Coalition proposes that the Commission establish an interim rate of zero for all modifications (subject to true-up) and open a separate, generic TELRIC proceeding to determine appropriate permanent rates for Verizon's performance thereof.

#### **CONCLUSION**

The Commission should dismiss this proceeding and/or portions of Verizon's Petition for the reasons set forth in Section I of this Response. Alternatively, the Commission should adopt the amendment proposed by the Competitive Carrier Coalition.

Respectfully submitted,

Russell M. Blau Michael C. Sloan Philip J. Macres

Swidler Berlin Shereff Friedman, LLP

3000 K Street, Suite 300 Washington, DC 20007

Tel: 202-424-7500 Fax: 202-424-7645

Email: rmblau@swidlaw.com mcsloan@swidlaw.com pjmacres@swidlaw.com

Counsel for the Competitive Carrier Coalition (members listed below)

Dan Gonos ACN Communication Services, Inc. 32991 Hamilton Court Farmington Hills, Michigan 48334

Tel: (248) 699-3517 Fax: (248) 489-4000

Email: DGonos@acninc.com

John C. Gockley Allegiance Telecom, Inc. 700 E. Buterfield Road, Suite 400 Lombard, Illinois 60148 Tel: (630) 522-5493

Fax: (630) 522-5453

Email: John.Gockley@allegiancetelecom.com

John B. Glicksman, Esq. Adelphia Business Solutions Operations, Inc. d/b/a TelCove 712 N. Main Street Coudersport, Pennsylvania 16915

Tel: (814) 274-6361 Fax: (814) 274-8243

Email: john.glicksman@telecove.com

Schula Hobbs Senior Manager, Regulatory Affairs DSLnet Communicatons, LLC 545 Long Wharf Drive, 5<sup>th</sup> Floor New Haven, Connecticut 06511

Tel: (203) 782-7493 Fax: (203) 624-3612

Email: schula.hobbs@dslnet

Matt Feil Florida Digital Network, Inc. 390 N. Orange Avenue, Suite 2000 Orlando, Florida 32801

Tel: (407) 835-0460 Fax: (407) 835-0309

Email: mfeil@floridadigital.net

Scott Beer Anrea Guzman ICG Telecom Group, Inc. 161 Inverness Drive West Englewood, Colorado 80112

Tel: (303) 414-5906 Fax: (303) 414-5817

Email: <a href="mailto:scott\_beer@icgcomm.com">scott\_beer@icgcomm.com</a>
<a href="mailto:andrea\_guzman@icgcomm.com">andrea\_guzman@icgcomm.com</a>

April 13, 2004

J.T. Ambrosi
PAETEC Communications, Inc.
One PAETEC Plaza
600 Willowbrook Office Park
Fairport, NY 14450

Tel: (716) 340-2528 Fax: (716) 340-2563

Email: jt.ambrosi@PAETEC.com

# **ATTACHMENT 1**

Competitive Carrier Coalition's Proposed Alternative to Verizon's Proposed TRO Amendment

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

AMENDMENT NO.

to the

INTERCONNECTION AGREEMENT

between

[VERIZON LEGAL ENTITY]

and

[CLEC FULL NAME]

This Amendment No. [NUMBER] (the "Amendment") is made by and between Verizon [LEGAL ENTITY] ("Verizon"), a [STATE OF INCORPORATION] corporation with offices at [VERIZON STATE ADDRESS], and [FULL CLEC NAME], a [CORPORATION/PARTNERSHIP] with offices at [CLEC ADDRESS] ("\*\*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*\*"), and shall be deemed effective [FOR CALIFORNIA] upon Commission approval pursuant to Section 252 of the Act (the "Amendment Effective Date").] [FOR ALL OTHER STATES: on \_\_\_\_\_ (the "Amendment Effective Date").] Verizon and \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* are hereinafter referred to collectively as the "Parties" and individually as a "Party". This Amendment covers services in Verizon's service territory in the [State or Commonwealth] of [STATE/COMMONWEALTH NAME OF AGREEMENT] (the "State"/"Commonwealth").

#### WITNESSETH:

# NOTE: **DELETE** THE FOLLOWING WHEREAS SECTION ONLY IF CLEC'S AGREEMENT HAS USED AN ADOPTION LETTER:

[WHEREAS, Verizon and \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* are Parties to an Interconnection Agreement under Sections 251 and 252 of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended [the "Act"] dated [INSERT DATE] (the " Agreement"); and]

# NOTE: **INSERT** THE FOLLOWING WHEREAS SECTION ONLY IF CLEC'S AGREEMENT USED AN ADOPTION LETTER:

[WHEREAS, pursuant to an adoption letter dated [INSERT DATE OF ACTUAL ADOPTION LETTER] (the "Adoption Letter"), \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* adopted in the [State or Commonwealth] of [STATE/COMMONWEALTH NAME], the interconnection agreement between [NAME OF UNDERLYING CLEC AGREEMENT] and VERIZON (such Adoption Letter and underlying adopted interconnection agreement referred to herein collectively as the "Agreement"); and]

WHEREAS, the Federal Communications Commission (the "FCC") released an order on August 21, 2003 in CC Docket Nos. 01-338, 96-98, and 98-147 (the "Triennial Review Order" or "TRO"), which became effective as of October 2, 2003; and

WHEREAS, on March 2, 2004, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit (the "D.C. Circuit") issued a decision affirming in part and vacating in part the TRO (the "D.C. Circuit Decision"); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 252(a)(1) of the [NOTE: IF CLEC'S AGREEMENT IS AN ADOPTION, REPLACE "ACT" WITH: "the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, (the "Act")] Act, the Parties wish to amend the Agreement in order to give contractual effect to the provisions of the TRO as set forth herein; and

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

**NOW, THEREFORE**, in consideration of the promises and mutual agreements set forth herein, the Parties agree to amend the Agreement as follows:

- 1. The Parties agree that the Agreement should be amended by the addition of the rates, terms and conditions set forth in the TRO Attachment and the Pricing Exhibit to the TRO Attachment attached hereto. The TRO Attachment and the Pricing Exhibit to the TRO Attachment shall apply notwithstanding any other provision of the Agreement or a Verizon tariff or a Verizon Statement of Generally Available Terms and Conditions ("SGAT").
- 2. Conflict between this Amendment and the Agreement. This Amendment shall be deemed to revise the terms and provisions of the Agreement to the extent necessary to give effect to the terms and provisions of this Amendment. In the event of a conflict between the terms and provisions of this Amendment and the terms and provisions of the Agreement this Amendment shall govern, provided, however, that the fact that a term or provision appears in this Amendment but not in the Agreement, or in the Agreement but not in this Amendment, shall not be interpreted as, or deemed grounds for finding, a conflict for purposes of this Section 2.
- 3. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
- Captions. The Parties acknowledge that the captions in this Amendment have been inserted solely for convenience of reference and in no way define or limit the scope or substance of any term or provision of this Amendment.
- 5. Scope of Amendment. This Amendment shall amend, modify and revise the Agreement only to the extent set forth expressly in Section 1 of this Amendment. As used herein, the Agreement, as revised and supplemented by this Amendment, shall be referred to as the "Amended Agreement." Nothing in this Amendment shall be deemed to amend or extend the term of the Agreement, or to affect the right of a Party to exercise any right of termination it may have under the Agreement.
- Stay or Reversal. Notwithstanding any contrary provision in the Agreement, this 6. Amendment, or any Verizon tariff or SGAT, nothing contained in the Agreement, this Amendment, or any Verizon tariff or SGAT shall limit Verizoneither Party's right to appeal, seek reconsideration of or otherwise seek to have stayed, modified, reversed or invalidated any order, rule, regulation, decision, ordinance or statute issued by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*], the FCC, any court or any other governmental authority related to, concerning or that may affect Verizoneither Party's obligations under the Agreement, this Amendment, any Verizon tariff or SGAT, or Applicable Law. The parties acknowledge that certain provisions of the TRO remain subject to appeal to the United States Supreme Court. Notwithstanding any other provision in the Agreement, this Amendment, or any Verizon tariff or SGAT, should the FCC, the D.C. Circuit or the United States Supreme Courtany court or agency of competent jurisdiction issue a stay of any or all of the TRO's provisions, or should the D.C. Circuit or the United States Supreme Court issue a stay of any or all of the D.C. Circuit Decision's provisions, any terms and conditions of this Amendment that implement the stayed provisions shall be suspended, and shall have no force and effect, from the effective date of such stay until the stay is lifted, and, while such terms and conditions are suspended, the terms and conditions of the Agreement shall be in effect to the same extent as if the provisions of this Amendment relating to the stayed provisions of the TRO had not been executed. Should any court or agency

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

of competent jurisdiction reverse or vacate any or all of the TRO's provisions, then any terms and conditions of this Amendment that relate to the reversed provisions shall be subject to renegotiation pursuant to the change of law provisions of the Agreement. Pending such renegotiation, the terms and conditions of the Agreement shall be in effect to the same extent as if the terms and conditions of this Amendment that relate to the reversed provisions had not been executed.

7. <u>Joint Work Product</u>. This Amendment is a joint work product, and any ambiguities in this Amendment shall not be construed by operation of law against either Party.

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

# SIGNATURE PAGE

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be executed as of the Amendment Effective Date.

***CLEC Full Name TXT***	VERIZON***IF Verizon Company Full Name 2 TXT != ""***
By:	By:
Printed:	Printed:
Title:	Title:
[FOR CALIFORNIA, FLORIDA AND PENNSYLVAI	NIA ONLY, ADD:]  Date:

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

#### TRO Attachment

#### 1. General Conditions

- Notwithstanding any other provision of the Agreement, this Amendment, or any Verizon tariff or SGAT: (a), Verizon shall be obligated to provide access to unbundled Network Elements ("UNEs"), combinations of unbundled Network Elements ("Combinations"), or and UNEs commingled with wholesale services ("Commingling"), to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* under the terms of this Amended Agreement in accordance with only to the extent required by both 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3) and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, and, (b) Verizon may decline to provide access to UNEs, Combinations, or Commingling to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*\* to the extent that provision of access to such UNEs, Combinations, or Commingling is not required by both 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3) and 47 C.F.R. Part 51.(c)(3), 47 U.S.C. § 271, 47 C.F.R. Part 51, and other applicable law, and as otherwise required by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] in accordance with applicable law.
- \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* may use a UNE, a Combination, or Commingling only for those purposes for which Verizon is required by 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3) and 47 C.F.R. Part 51 to provide such UNE, Combination, or Commingling to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*.\*\*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* may use a UNE, a Combination, or Commingling only if it will use the facility at least in part for a qualifying service in accordance with 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3), 47 C.F.R. Part 51, or other applicable law. Except as permitted by 47 C.F.R. § 51.318, Verizon shall not impose limitations, restrictions, or requirements on requests for, or on the use of UNEs, a Combination or Commingling for the service \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* seeks to offer.
- 1.3 Notwithstanding any other provision of the Agreement, this Amendment, or any Verizon tariff or SGAT, to the extent Verizon is required by a change in Applicable Law to provide to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3) and 47 C.F.R. Part 51 a UNE, a Combination, or Commingling that is not offered under the Amended Agreement to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* as of the Amendment Effective Date, the rates, terms, conditions for such UNE, Combination, or Commingling shall be as provided in an applicable Verizon tariff, or, in the absence of an applicable Verizon tariff, as mutually agreed in writing by the Parties.
- 1.3 4.4 Verizon reserves the right to argue in any proceeding before the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*], the FCC or another governmental body of competent jurisdiction that an item identified in the Agreement or this Amendment as a Network Element (a) is not a Network Element under 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3), (b) is not a Network Element Verizon is required by 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3) to provide to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*, or (c) is an item that Verizon is not required to offer to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* at the rates set forth in the Amended Agreement.
- \*\*\*CLEC\*\*\* reserves the right to argue in any proceeding before the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*], the FCC or another governmental body of competent jurisdiction that an item not identified in the Agreement or this Amendment as a Network Element (a) is a Network Element Verizon is required under 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3) to provide to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*, or (b) is an item that Verizon is otherwise required to offer to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* at rates to be determined by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*], the FCC or another governmental body of competent jurisdiction.

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

#### 2. TRO Glossary

Notwithstanding any other provision in the Agreement or any Verizon tariff or SGAT, the following terms, as used in the Amended Agreement, shall have the meanings set forth below:

#### 2.1 Call-Related Databases.

Databases, other than operations support systems, that are used in signaling networks for billing and collection, or the transmission, routing, or other provision of a telecommunications service. Call-related databases include, but are not limited to, the calling name database, 911 database, E911 database, line information database, toll free calling database, advanced intelligent network databases, and downstream number portability databases.

#### 2.2 Dark Fiber Loop.

An unactivated optical transmission facility within a LATA, without attached multiplexing, aggregation or other electronics, between a wire center and an Enterprise Customer's premises, that is provided on an unbundled basis pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3), and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, or other applicable law, or as required by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] in accordance with applicable law.

#### 2.3 2.2 Dark Fiber Transport.

An unactivated optical transmission facility within a LATA, without attached multiplexing, aggregation or other electronics, between Verizon switches (as identified in the LERG) or wire centers, that is provided on an unbundled basis pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3), and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, or other applicable law, or as required by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] in accordance with applicable law. Dark fiber facilities between (i) a Verizon wire center or switch and (ii) a switch or wire center of \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* or a third party are not Dark Fiber Transport.

# 2.4 2.3 Dedicated Transport.

A DS1-or DS3-transmission facility between Verizon switches (as identified in the LERG) or wire centers, within a LATA, that is dedicated to a particular end user or carrier and that is provided on an unbundled basis pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3), and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, or other applicable law, or as required by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] in accordance with applicable law. Transmission facilities or services provided between (i) a Verizon wire center or switch and (ii) a switch or wire center of \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* or a third party are not Dedicated Transport, unless Verizon has installed any equipment at the premises of \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* or any other entity not affiliated with Verizon, regardless of whether Verizon has a cage ("Reverse Collocation").

# 2.5 2.4 DS1 Dedicated Transport.

Dedicated Transport having a total digital signal speed of 1.544 Mbps.

# 2.6 2.5 DS3 Dedicated Transport.

Dedicated Transport having a total digital signal speed of 44.736 Mbps.

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

#### **2.7 2.6** DS1 Loop.

A digital transmission channel suitable for the transport of 1.544 Mbps digital signals that is provided on an unbundled basis pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3), and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, or other applicable law, or as required by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] in accordance with applicable law. This loop type is more fully described in Verizon TR 72575, as revised from time to time, except that Verizon publications referenced in this Agreement may not be applied in any manner that is inconsistent with provisions of the Agreement or applicable law. A DS-1 Loop requires the electronics necessary to provide the DS-1 transmission rate.

#### **2.8 2.7** DS3 Loop.

A digital transmission channel suitable for the transport of isochronous bipolar serial data at a rate of 44.736 Mbps (the equivalent of 28 DS-1 channels) that is provided on an unbundled basis pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3), and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, or other applicable law, or as required by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] in accordance with applicable law. This Loop type is more fully described in Verizon TR 72575, as revised from time to time, except that Verizon publications referenced in this Agreement may not be applied in any manner that is inconsistent with provisions of the Agreement or applicable law. A DS-3 Loop requires the electronics necessary to provide the DS-3 transmission rate.

#### 2.9 Enterprise Customer.

Any retail or wholesale business customer that is not a Mass Market Customer.

#### 2.10 2.8 Enterprise Switching.

Local Switching or Tandem Switching that, if provided to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* would be used for the purpose of servingto serve \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s customers using DS1 or above capacity Loops. <u>Enterprise Switching does not include stand-alone Tandem Switching.</u>

#### 2.11 2.9 Feeder.

The fiber optic cable (lit or unlit) or metallic portion of a Loop between a serving wire center and a remote terminal or feeder/distribution interface.

#### 2.12 2.10 FTTH Loop.

A Loop <u>serving a Mass Market Customer and</u> consisting entirely of fiber optic cable, whether dark or lit, between the main distribution frame (or its equivalent) in an end user's serving wire center and the demarcation point at the end user's customer premises.

#### 2.13 2.11 House and Riser Cable.

A distribution facility in Verizon's network, other than <u>a fiber optic facility</u> in a FTTH Loop, between the minimum point of entry ("MPOE") at a multiunit premises where an end user customer is located and the Demarcation Point for such facility, that is owned and controlled by Verizon. <u>Also known as the "Inside Wire Subloop."</u>

#### **2.14 2.12** Hybrid Loop.

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

A local Loop <u>serving a Mass Market Customer and</u> composed of both fiber optic cable and copper wire or cable <u>between the main distribution frame (or its equivalent) in an end user's serving wire center and the demarcation point at the end user's customer premises.</u>

# **2.15 2.13** Line Sharing.

The process by which \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* provides xDSL service over the same copper Loop that Verizon uses to provide voice service by utilizing the frequency range on the copper loop above the range that carries analog circuit-switched voice transmissions (the High Frequency Portion of the Loop, or "HFPL"). The HFPL includes the features, functions, and capabilities of the copper Loop that are used to establish a complete transmission path between Verizon's distribution frame (or its equivalent) in its Wire Center and the demarcation point at the end user's customer premises, and includes the high frequency portion of any inside wire (including any House and Riser Cable) owned and controlled by Verizon.

# 2.14 Local Switching.

The line-side, and trunk-side facilities associated with the line-side port, on a circuit switch in Verizon's network (as identified in the LERG), plus the features, functions, and capabilities of that switch, unbundled from loops and transmission facilities, including: (a) the line-side Port (including the capability to connect a Loop termination and a switch line card, telephone number assignment, dial tone, one primary directory listing, presubscription, and access to 911); (b) line and line group features (including all vertical features and line blocking options the switch and its associated deployed switch software are capable of providing that are provided to Verizon's local exchange service Customers served by that switch); (c) usage (including the connection of lines to lines, lines to trunks, trunks to lines, and trunks to trunks); and (d) trunk features (including the connection between the trunk termination and a trunk card).

#### 2.17 Mass Market Customer.

An end user customer who is either (a) a residential customer or (b) a business customer whose premises are served by telecommunications facilities with an aggregate transmission capacity (regardless of the technology used) of less than four DS-0s.

#### 2.18 2.15 Mass Market Switching.

Local Switching or Tandem Switching that Verizon offers on an unbundled basis pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3), and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, or other applicable law, or as required by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] in accordance with applicable law, and that is provided to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* to serve \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s end user customers over DS0 Loops.

#### 2.19 2.16 Nonconforming Facility.

Any facility that Verizon was providing to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* on an unbundled basis pursuant to the Agreement or a Verizon tariff or SGAT prior to October 2, 2003, but which Verizon is no longer obligated to provide on an unbundled basis under 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3), and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, or other applicable state or federal law or regulation whether by operation of the TRO, a subsequenta final, nonappealable nonimpairment finding issued by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] or the FCC, or otherwise. By way of example and not by way of limitation, Nonconforming Facilities

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

may include any of the following: (a) any unbundled dedicated transport or dark fiber facility that is no longer encompassed within the amended terms applicable to DS1 Dedicated Transport, DS3 Dedicated Transport, or Dark Fiber Transport; (b) DS1 Dedicated Transport, DS3 Dedicated Transport, or Dark Fiber Transport on a Route or Routes as to which the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] or the FCC, on or after October 2. 2003, finds telecommunications carriers to be nonimpaired without access to such facilities; (c) Enterprise Switching; (d) Mass Market Switching in any market in which the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] or the FCC, on or after October 2, 2003, finds telecommunications carriers to be nonimpaired without access to such facilities; (e) Local Switching subject to the FCC's four-line carve out rule, as described in Implementation of the Local Competition Provisions of the Telecommunications Act of 1996, CC Docket No 96-98, 15 FCC Rcd 3822-31 (1999) (the "Four-Line Carve Out Rule"); (f) OCn Loops and OCn Dedicated Transport; (g) the fiber Feeder portion of a Loop serving a Mass Market Customer, subject to exceptions for TDM and narrowband applications; (h) Line Sharing; (i) an EEL that does not meet the service eligibility criteria established in the TRO; (j) (i) any Call-Related Database, other than the 911 and E911 databases, that is not provisioned in connection with \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s use of Verizon Mass Market Switching; (kj) Signaling that is not provisioned in connection with \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s use of Verizon's Mass Market Switching, (k) FTTH Loops (lit or unlit) in a new build environment; (I) FTTH Loops (lit or unlit) in a new build environment; (m) FTTH Loops (lit or unlit) in an overbuild environment, subject to the limited exceptions set forth herein; or (nm) any facility or class of facilities as to which the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] or the FCC, on or after October 2, 2003, makes a general finding of nonimpairment.

#### 2.17 Packet Switching.

The routing or forwarding of packets, frames, cells, or other data units based on address or other routing information contained in the packets, frames, cells or other data units, or the functions that are performed by the digital subscriber line access multiplexers, including but not limited to the ability to terminate an enduser customer's copper Loop (which includes both a low-band voice channel and a high-band data channel, or solely a data channel); the ability to forward the voice channels, if present, to a circuit switch or multiple circuit switches; the ability to extract data units from the data channels on the Loops; and the ability to combine data units from multiple Loops onto one or more trunks connecting to a packet switch or packet switches.

#### 2.20 2.18-[INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

# 2.21 2.19 Route.

A transmission path between one of Verizon's wire centers or switches and another of Verizon's wire centers or switches (or, as applicable, a class or grouping of such transmission paths in a particular market) within a LATA\_including "Reverse Collocation" sites. A route between two points (e.g., wire center or switch "A" and wire center or switch "Z") may pass through one or more Verizon intermediate wire centers or switches (e.g., Verizon wire center or switch "X"). Transmission paths between identical end points (e.g., Verizon wire center or switch "A" and Verizon wire center or switch "Z") are the same "route", irrespective of whether they pass through the same intermediate Verizon wire centers or switches, if any.

#### 2.22 2.20 Signaling.

Insertions shown in this type, deletions shown in this type.

Signaling includes, but is not limited to, signaling links and signaling transfer points.

# 2.23 2.21 Sub-Loop for Multiunit Premises Access.

Any portion of a Loop, other than a FTTH Loop, that is technically feasible to access at a terminal in Verizon's outside plant at or near a multiunit premises. It is not technically feasible to access a portion of a Loop at a terminal in Verizon's outside plant at or near a multiunit premises if a technician must access the facility by removing a splice case to reach the wiring within the cable.

# 2.24 Sub-Loop Distribution Facility.

The copper portion of a Loop in Verizon's network that is between the minimum point of entry ("MPOE") at an end user customer premises and Verizon's feeder/distribution interface.

# 2.25 <u>2.23 Tandem Switching.</u>

The trunk-connect facilities on a Verizon circuit switch that functions as a tandem switch, plus the functions that are centralized in that switch, including the basic switching function of connecting trunks to trunks, unbundled from and not contiguous with loops and transmission facilities. Tandem Switching creates a temporary transmission path between interoffice trunks that are interconnected at a Verizon tandem switch for the purpose of routing a call. A tandem switch does not provide basic functions such as dial tone service.

#### 3. UNE TRO Provisions

- Loops. Except where the provisions of this Amendment explicitly conflict with the terms of the Agreement, Verizon shall continue to provide access to loops in accordance with the terms of the Agreement. Verizon shall provide nondiscriminatory access to stand-alone local loops comprised entirely of copper wire or cable, where available. Copper loops include two-wire and four-wire analog voice-grade copper loops, digital copper loops (e.g., DS0s and integrated services digital network lines), as well as two-wire and four-wire copper loops conditioned to transmit the digital signals needed to provide digital subscriber line services, regardless of whether the copper loops are in service or held as spares. The copper loop includes attached electronics.
  - 3.1.1 <u>Hi-Cap Loops</u>. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Agreement or a Verizon tariff or SGAT, as of October 2, 2003:
    - 3.1.1.1 <u>DS1 Loops.</u> Upon \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s written request, Verizon shall provide \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* with nondiscriminatory access to a DS1 Loop on an unbundled basis under the Amended Agreement in accordance with, but only to the extent required by, <u>all applicable law and regulation</u>, including but not limited to, 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3), and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, and any requirements of the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 252(e)(3), U.S.C. § 271, or other applicable law or regulation.
    - 3.1.1.2 <u>DS3 Loops</u>. Upon \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s written request, Verizon shall provide \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* with nondiscriminatory access to a DS3 Loop on an unbundled basis under the Amended Agreement in accordance with, but only to the extent required by, all applicable

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

law and regulation, including but not limited to, 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3), and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, and any requirements of the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 252(e)(3), U.S.C. § 271, or other applicable law or regulation.

- 3.1.1.2.1 Cap on DS3 Loops. \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* may obtain on an unbundled basis a maximum of two (2) DS-3 Loops (or two (2) DS-3 equivalents) at any single end user location. Any Loop previously made available to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* at said end user location above the two (2) Loop cap shall be considered a Nonconforming Facility.
- 3.1.1.3 Dark Fiber Loops. Upon \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s written request, Verizon shall provide \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* with nondiscriminatory access to a Dark Fiber Loop on an unbundled basis under the Amended Agreement in accordance with all applicable law and regulation, including but not limited to 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3), 47 C.F.R. Part 51, and any requirements of the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 252(e)(3), or 47 U.S.C. § 271, or other applicable law or regulation.
  - 3.1.1.3.1 A Dark Fiber Inquiry Form must be submitted prior to submitting an ASR. Upon receipt of \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s completed Dark Fiber Inquiry Form, Verizon will initiate a review of its cable records to determine whether Dark Fiber Loop(s) may be available between the locations and in the quantities specified. Verizon will respond within fifteen (15) Business Days from receipt of \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s Dark Fiber Inquiry Form, indicating whether Dark Fiber Loop(s) may be available (if so available, an "Acknowledgement") based on the records search except that for ten (10) or more requests per LATA or large, complex projects, Verizon reserves the right to negotiate a different interval. The Dark Fiber Inquiry is a record search and does not guarantee the availability of Dark Fiber Loop(s). In responding to Dark Fiber Inquiries from \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*, Verizon will identify whether fiber is: (i) installed and available, (ii) installed but not available, or (iii) not installed. Where fiber is not available, Verizon shall describe in reasonable detail the reason why fiber is not available, including, but not limited to. specifying whether fiber is present but needs to be spliced. whether no fiber at all is present between the two points specified by \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*, whether further work other than splicing needs to be performed, and the nature of any such further work other than splicing. Use of information provided by Verizon pursuant to this provision shall be limited to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s engineering and operations personnel. \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s marketing personnel shall not be permitted access to, or use of, this information.
  - 3.1.1.3.2 A field survey shows the availability of dark fiber pairs
    between a Verizon central office and a \*\*\*CLEC Acronym
    TXT\*\*\* Customer, shows whether or not such pairs are
    defective, shows whether or not such pairs have been used

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

by Verizon for emergency restoration activity and tests the transmission characteristics of Verizon dark fiber pairs. If a field survey shows that a Dark Fiber Loop or is available, \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* may reserve the Dark Fiber Loop. as applicable, for ten (10) Business Days from receipt of Verizon's field survey results. If \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* submits an order for access to such Dark Fiber Loop after passage of the foregoing ten (10) Business Day reservation period, Verizon does not guarantee or warrant the Dark Fiber Loop will be available when Verizon receives such order, and \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* assumes all the risk that the Dark Fiber Loop will not be available. At \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s option, its personnel may observe the conducting of the field survey. Verizon shall perform a field survey subject to a negotiated interval. If \*\*\*CLEC Acronvm TXT\*\*\* submits an order for a dark fiber pair without first obtaining the results of a field survey of such pair, \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* assumes all risk that the pair will not be compatible with \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s equipment, including, but not limited to, order cancellation charges.

3.1.1.3 Nonimpairment. Without limiting any other rights Verizoneither <u>3.1.1.4</u> party may have under the Amended Agreement or under Applicable Law, subject to the provisions of Section 3.83.9 below, Verizon shall be under no obligation to provide or continue providing \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* with nondiscriminatory access to DS-1 Loops or DS3 Loops pursuant to § 251 of the Act, under the Amended Agreement at a specific end user location if the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] or the FCC findsissues a final, nonappealable order finding that \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* or CLECs generally are not impaired without access to such DS1 Loops or DS3 Loops at such end user location (or class or groupings of locations in a particular market). Any DS1 Loops or DS3 Loops previously made available to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* at the subject end user location shall be considered Nonconforming Facilities immediately on the effective date of the nonimpairment finding and thereafter. governed pursuant to Section 3.9 of this Amendment, All nonconforming DS1 and DS3 Loops provided to\*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* shall be treated in accordance with § 3.8 of this Agreement.

#### 3.1.2 FTTH Loops.

- 3.1.2.1 New Builds. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Agreement or any Verizon tariff or SGAT, \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* shall not be entitled to obtain access to a FTTH Loop (or any segment thereof) on an unbundled basis where Verizon has deployed such a Loop to an end user's customera Mass Market Customer's premises that previously was not served by any Verizon Loop.
- 3.1.2.2 Overbuilds. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Agreement or any Verizon tariff or SGAT, \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* shall not be entitled to obtain access to a FTTH Loop (or any segment thereof) on an unbundled basis where Verizon has deployed the subject Loop parallel to, or in replacement of, an existing copper Loop, and (A) Verizon maintains the existing copper loop connected to the particular customer premises after deploying the FTTH loop and

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

provides nondiscriminatory access to that copper loop on an unbundled basis unless the incumbent LEC retires the copper loop pursuant to section 51.319 (a)(3)(iii), and (B) Verizon shall restore the copper loop to serviceable condition upon request; provided, however, that if such a Loop replaces a copper Loop that Verizon has retired, and there are no other available copper Loops or Hybrid Loops, then in accordance with, but only to the extent required by, 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3), and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, and other applicable law, and as required by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] in accordance with applicable law, Verizon shall provide \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* with nondiscriminatory access on an unbundled basis to a transmission path on the FTTH loop from Verizon's serving wire center to the demarcation point at the end user's customer premises capable of voice grade service.

#### 3.1.3 Hybrid Loops Generally.

3.1.3.1 Packet Switching. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Agreement or any Verizon tariff or SGAT, \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* shall not be entitled to obtain access to the Packet Switching Capability of any Hybrid Loop on an unbundled basis. For purposes of this section 3.1.3.1 only, the term Packet Switching means as follows:

The routing or forwarding of packets, frames, cells, or other data units based on address or other routing information contained in the packets, frames, cells or other data units, or the functions that are performed by the digital subscriber line access multiplexers, including but not limited to the ability to terminate an end-user customer's copper Loop (which includes both a low-band voice channel and a high-band data channel, or solely a data channel); the ability to forward the voice channels, if present, to a circuit switch or multiple circuit switches; the ability to extract data units from the data channels on the Loops; and the ability to combine data units from multiple Loops onto one or more trunks connecting to a packet switch or packet switches.

\*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* has agreed to this definition only because it was adopted by the FCC in 47 C.F.R. § 51.319(a)(2)(i). \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* believes that it is inappropriate to classify DSLAM functionality as "packet switching," and reserves its right to so argue in future proceedings.

3.1.3.2 Broadband Services. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Agreement or any Verizon tariff or SGAT, as of October 2, 2003, when \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* seeks access to a Hybrid Loop for the provision of "broadband services," as such term is defined by the FCC, then in accordance with, but only to the extent required by, 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3), and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, and other applicable law, and as required by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] in accordance with applicable law, Verizon shall provide \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* with nondiscriminatory access under the Amended Agreement to the time division multiplexing features, functions, and capabilities of that Hybrid Loop, including DS1 or DS3 capacity (but only where impairment has been found to exist), on an unbundled basis, to establish a complete transmission path between the main distribution frame (or equivalent) in

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

the end user's serving wire center and the end user's customer premises. This access shall include access to all features, functions, and capabilities of the Hybrid Loop that are not used to transmit packetized information.

- Narrowband Services. Notwithstanding any other provision of the 3.1.3.3 Agreement or any Verizon tariff or SGAT, as of October 2, 2003, when \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* seeks access to a Hybrid Loop for the provision to its customer of "narrowband services," as such term is defined by the FCC, then in accordance with, but only to the extent required by, 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3), and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, and other applicable law, and as required by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] in accordance with applicable law, Verizon shall either (a) provide nondiscriminatory access under the Amended Agreement to a spare home-run copper Loop serving that customer on an unbundled basis, or in Verizon's sole discretion, (b) provide nondiscriminatory access under the Amended Agreement, on an unbundled basis, to a voice-grade transmission path between the main distribution frame (or equivalent) in the end user's serving wire center and the end user's customer premises an entire hybrid loop capable of voicegrade service, using time division multiplexing technology.
- 3.1.3.4 Feeder. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Agreement or any Verizon tariff or SGAT, as of October 2, 2003, \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* shall not be entitled to obtain access to the <u>fiber</u> Feeder portion of a Loop on an unbundled, standalone basis <u>to serve a Mass Market customer</u>.

#### 3.1.4 IDLC Hybrid Loops.

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Agreement, Section 3.1.3 above, or any Verizon tariff or SGAT, if [\*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*] requests, in order to provide narrowband services, unbundling of a 2 wire analog or 4 wire analog Loop currently provisioned via Integrated Digital Loop Carrier (over a Hybrid Loop), Verizon shall, as and to the extent required by 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3) and 47 C.F.R. Part 51 or other applicable law, or as required by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] in accordance with applicable law, provide [\*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*] unbundled access to a Loop capable of voice-grade service to the end user customer served by the Hybrid Loop.

- 3.1.4.1 Verizon will endeavor to provide [\*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*] with an existing copper Loop or a Loop served by existing Universal Digital Loop Carrier ("UDLC"). Standard recurring and non-recurring Loop charges will apply. In addition, a non-recurring charge will apply whenever a line and station transfer is performed.
- 3.1.4.2 If neither a copper Loop nor a Loop served by UDLC is available, Verizon shall, upon request of \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*, construct the necessary copper Loop or UDLC facilities. In addition to the rates and charges payable in connection with any unbundled Loop so provisioned by Verizon, \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* shall be responsible for the following charges: (a) an engineering query charge for preparation of a price quote; (b) upon \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s submission of a firm construction order, an engineering work order nonrecurring charge; and (c) construction

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

charges, as set forth in the price quote. If the order is cancelled by \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* after construction work has started, \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* shall be responsible for cancellation charges and a pro-rated charge for construction work performed prior to the cancellation. If neither a copper Loop nor a Loop served by UDLC is available, Verizon shall, upon request of \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*, provide unbundled access to hybrid loops served by IDLC systems by using a "hairpin" option, i.e., configuring a semi-permanent path and disabling certain switching functions, as described in note 855 of the TRO.

3.1.4.3 Verizon's performance in connection with providing unbundled Loops pursuant to this Section 3.1 shall not be subject to standard provisioning intervals or to performance measures and remedies, if any, contained in the Amended Agreement or elsewhere. If none of the options described above are available, Verizon shall construct the necessary copper Loop or UDLC facilities.

#### 3.2 Line Sharing.

Notwithstanding any other provision in the Agreement or any Verizon tariff or SGAT, as of October 2, 2003:

#### 3.2.1 Line Sharing.

- 3.2.1.1 New Line Sharing. Verizon shall be under no obligation to provision new Line Sharing arrangements under the Agreement or this Amendment; provided, however, that as and to the extent required by 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3) and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, and subject to Section 3.8.3 below, Verizon offers new Line Sharing arrangements on a transitional basis pursuant to rates, terms, and conditions offered by Verizon in a separate agreement that is subject to FCC-prescribed pricing rules. New Line Sharing. To the extent required by 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3), 47 C.F.R. Part 51, or other applicable law, or as required by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] in accordance with applicable law, Verizon shall provide new Line Sharing arrangements in conformance with all applicable law.
- 3.2.1.2 <u>Grandfathered Line Sharing.</u> Any existing Line Sharing arrangement over a copper Loop or Sub-Loop in place with an end user customer of \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* will be grandfathered at existing rates, provided \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* began providing xDSL service to that end user customer using Line Sharing over that Loop or Sub-Loop prior to October 2, 2003, and only so long as \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* has not ceased providing xDSL service to that end user customer at the same location over that Loop or Sub-Loop.

#### 3.3 Sub-Loop.

3.3.1 Sub-Loop for Access to Multiunit Premises. As of October 2, 2003, all provisions in the Agreement governing \*\*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* access to Inside Wire, House and Riser or House and Riser Cable are hereby deleted and replaced with this Section 3.3.1, which shall supersede any other provision in the Agreement or in any Verizon tariff or SGAT in effect prior to October 2, 2003. Upon request by \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*, Verizon

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

shall provide to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* access to the Sub-Loop for Multiunit Premises Access in accordance with, but only to the extent required by, 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3) and 47 C.F.R. Part 51.Sub-Loop for Access to Multiunit Premises. Upon request by \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*, Verizon shall provide to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* access to the Sub-Loop for Multiunit Premises Access in accordance with 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3) and 47 C.F.R. § 51.319(b), any applicable Verizon tariff or SGAT, and any applicable federal and state commission rules, regulations, and orders.

- 3.3.1.1 Inside Wire Sub-Loop. In accordance with, but only to the extent required by, 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3) and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, upon request by \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*, Verizon shall provide to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* access to a House and Riser Cable pursuant to this Section 3.3.1.1 at the rates and charges provided in the Agreement. Verizon shall not reserve a House and Riser Cable for \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*. \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* may access a House and Riser Cable only between the MPOE for such cable and the demarcation point at a technically feasible access point. It is not technically feasible to access inside wire sub-loop if a technician must access the facility by removing a splice case to reach the wiring within the cable.[intentionally left blank]
  - 3.3.1.1.1 \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* must satisfy the following conditions before ordering access to a House and Riser Cable from Verizon:
    - 3.3.1.1.1.1 \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* shall locate its facilities within cross connect distance of the point of interconnection on such cable. Facilities are within cross connect distance of a point of interconnection if they are located in the same room (not including a hallway) or within twelve (12) feet of such point of interconnection.
    - 3.3.1.1.1.2 If suitable space is available, \*\*\*CLEC
      Acronym TXT\*\*\* shall install its
      facilities no closer than fourteen (14)
      inches of the point of interconnection
      for such cable, unless otherwise agreed
      by the Parties.
    - 3.3.1.1.1.3 \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s facilities cannot be attached, otherwise affixed or adjacent to Verizon's facilities or equipment, cannot pass through or otherwise penetrate Verizon's facilities or equipment and cannot be installed so that \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s facilities or equipment are located in a space where Verizon plans to locate its facilities or equipment.

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

- 3.3.1.1.1.4 \*\*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* shall identify its facilities as those of \*\*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*.
- 3.3.1.1.2 To provide \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* with access to a House and Riser Cable, Verizon shall not be obligated to (a) move any Verizon equipment, (b) secure any right of way for \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*, (c) secure space for \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* in any building, (d) secure access to any portion of a building for \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* or (e) reserve space in any building for \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*.
- 3.3.1.1.3 Verizon shall perform cutover of a Customer to

  \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* service by means of a
  House and Riser Cable subject to a negotiated
  interval. Verizon shall install a jumper cable to
  connect the appropriate Verizon House and Riser
  Cable pair to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s facilities,
  and Verizon shall determine how to perform such
  installation. \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* shall
  coordinate with Verizon to ensure that House and
  Riser Cable facilities are converted to \*\*\*CLEC
  Acronym TXT\*\*\* in accordance with \*\*\*CLEC
  Acronym TXT\*\*\* order for such services.
- 3.3.1.1.4 If proper \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* facilities are not available at the time of installation, Verizon shall bill \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*, and \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* shall pay to Verizon, the Not Ready Charge set forth in the Agreement and the Parties shall establish a new cutover date.
- 3.3.1.1.5 Verizon shall perform all installation work on Verizon equipment in connection with \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s use of Verizon's House and Riser Gable. All \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* equipment connected to a House and Riser Cable shall comply with applicable industry standards.
- 3.3.1.1.6 Verizon shall repair and maintain a House and Riser Cable at the request of \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*.

  \*\*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* shall be solely responsible for investigating and determining the source of all troubles and for providing Verizon with appropriate dispatch information based on its test results. Verizon shall repair a trouble only when the cause of the trouble is a Verizon House and Riser Cable. If (a) \*\*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*\* reports to Verizon a Customer trouble, (b) \*\*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*\* requests a dispatch, (c) Verizon dispatches a technician, and (d) such trouble was not caused by a Verizon House and Riser Cable in whole or in part, then \*\*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*\*

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

shall pay Verizon the charge set forth in the Agreement for time associated with said dispatch. In addition, this charge also applies when the Customer contact as designated by \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* is not available at the appointed time. If as the result of \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* instructions, Verizon is erroneously requested to dispatch to a site on Verizon company premises ("dispatch in"), a charge set forth in the Agreement will be assessed per occurrence to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* by Verizon. If as the result of \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* instructions, Verizon is erroneously requested to dispatch to a site outside of Verizon company premises ("dispatch out"), a charge set forth in the Agreement will be assessed per occurrence to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* by Verizon.

- 3.3.1.2 Single Point of Interconnection. In accordance with, but only to the extent required by, 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3) and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, and other applicable law, and as required by the \*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\* in accordance with applicable law, upon request by \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* and provided that the conditions set forth in Subsections 3.3.1.2.1 and 3.3.1.2.2 are satisfied, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith an amendment to the Amended Agreement memorializing the terms, conditions and rates under which Verizon will provide a single point of interconnection at a multiunit premises suitable for use by multiple carriers:
  - 3.3.1.2.1 Verizon has distribution facilities to the multiunit premises, and either owns and controls, or leases, the House and Riser Cable at the multiunit premises; and
  - \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* certifies that it will place an order for access to an unbundled Sub-Loop network element under 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3) and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, or other applicable law, or requirements of the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] in accordance with applicable law, via the newly provided single point of interconnection.
- 3.3.2 Sub-Loop Distribution Sub-Loop-Facility. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Agreement or any Verizon tariff or SGAT, in accordance with, but only to the extent required by, 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3), and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, and other applicable law, and as required by the \*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*\* in accordance with applicable law, upon site-specific request, \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* may obtain access to the Distribution Sub-Loop Facility at a technically feasible access point located near a Verizon remote terminal equipment enclosure at the rates and charges provided for Unbundled Sub-Loop Arrangements (or the Distribution Sub-Loop) in the Agreement. It is not technically feasible to access the sub-loop distribution facility if a technician must access the facility by removing a splice case to reach the wiring within the cable.
- 3.4 Unbundled Local Circuit Switching.

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

- 3.4.1 General Requirements. Verizon shall provide Mass Market Switching and stand-alone Tandem Switching to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* under the Amended Agreement in accordance with, but only to the extent required by, 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3), and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, and other applicable law, and as required by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] in accordance with applicable law. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Agreement, this Amendment, or any Verizon tariff or SGAT, as of October 2, 2003, with the exception of the foregoing conditional obligation to provide Mass Market Switching, Verizon shall have no other obligation to provide any other form of Local Switching or Tandem Switching (such as Enterprise Switching) to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*, and any Local Switching or TandemEnterprise Switching previously made available to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* shall be considered a Nonconforming Facility that shall be subject to the transition provisions of Section 3.83.9 below. For the avoidance of doubt: (a) Enterprise Switching is a Nonconforming Facility as of October 2, 2003; and (b) Local Switching is subject to the FCC's Four-Line Carve Out Rule is and may be a Nonconforming Facility by operation of law in effect prior to the Amendment Effective Date.
- 3.4.2 Nonimpairment. Subject to the provisions of Section 3.83.9 below, Verizon shall be under no obligation to continue to provide \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* with nondiscriminatory access to Mass Market Switching on an unbundled basis pursuant to § 251 of the Act, under the Amended Agreement upon a finding by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] or the FCC that requesting telecommunications carriers are not impaired without access to Mass Market Switching in a particular market, or where the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] er the FCC has found that all impairment would be cured by implementation of a transition plan for unbundled circuit switching in a particular market.transitional ("rolling") access to local circuit switching on an unbundled basis for a period of 90 days or more. "Rolling" access means the use of unbundled local circuit switching for a limited period of time for each end-user customer to whom \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* seeks to provide service. All nonconforming UNE local switching provided to\*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* shall be treated in accordance with § 3.8 of this Agreement.
- 3.4.3 Signaling and Call-Related Databases. Verizon shall provide access to Signaling and Call-related Databases under the Amended Agreement in accordance with , but only to the extent required by, 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3), and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, and other applicable law, and as required by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] in accordance with applicable law. Specifically, notwithstanding any other provision of the Agreement or any Verizon tariff or SGAT, as of October 2, 2003, Verizon shall provide Signaling and Call-Related Databases only in conjunction with the provision of Local Switching or Tandem Switching that Verizon is otherwise obligated to make available to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* under the Amended Agreement; provided, however, that Verizon shall continue to provide nondiscriminatory access to the 911 and E911 Call-Related Databases in accordance with, but only to the extent required by, 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3), and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, and other applicable law, and as required by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] in accordance with applicable law. Where Local Switching or Tandem Switching associated with a particular Signaling facility or Call-Related Database is or becomes a Nonconforming Facility, the associated Signaling facility or Call-Related Database associated with that Local Switching or Tandem Switching facility shall also be subject to the same transitional

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

provisions in Section 3-83.9 (except for the 911 and E911 Call-Related Databases, as noted above).

#### 3.5 Unbundled Interoffice Facilities.

- 3.5.1 General Requirements. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Agreement or any Verizon tariff or SGAT, as of October 2, 2003: (a) Verizon shall provide Dedicated Transport and Dark Fiber Transport under the Agreement in accordance with, but only to the extent required by, 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3), and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, and other applicable law, and as required by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] in accordance with applicable law.
- 3.5.2 <u>Dedicated Transport</u>. On or after October 2, 2003, notwithstanding any other provision of the Agreement or any Verizon tariff or SGAT, and in accordance with, but only to the extent required by, 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3), and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, and other applicable law, and as required by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] in accordance with applicable law:
  - 3.5.2.1 Upon \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s written request, Verizon shall provide \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* with nondiscriminatory access to DS1 Dedicated Transport and DS3 Dedicated Transport on an unbundled basis pursuant to the Amended Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt: (a) a transmission facility or service between a Verizon switch or wire center and a switch or wire center of \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* or a third party is not Dedicated Transport unless Verizon has installed any equipment at the premises of \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* or any other entity not affiliated with Verizon, regardless of whether Verizon has a cage ("Reverse Collocation"); and (b) a transmission facility or service that uses an OCn interface or a SONET interface is not Dedicated Transport. Subject to the provisions of Section 3.83.9 below. Verizon is under no obligation to provide or continue providing the Nonconforming Facilities described in clauses (a) and (b) above under the Agreement or the Amended Agreement.
  - 3.5.2.2 <u>Cap on Dedicated Transport.</u> \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* may obtain on an unbundled basis a maximum of twelve (12) DS3 Dedicated Transport circuits (or twelve (12) DS3-equivalents, *e.g.* 336 DS1s) on any single Route on which unbundled transport is otherwise available. Any circuit capacity on that Route above such twelve (12) circuit cap shall be considered a Nonconforming Facility.
  - 3.5.2.3 Nonimpairment. Subject to the provisions of Section 3.83.9 below, Verizon shall be under no obligation to provide or continue providing \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* with nondiscriminatory access to DS1 Dedicated Transport or DS3 Dedicated Transport on an unbundled basis <u>pursuant to § 251 of the Act</u>, under the Amended Agreement on a particular Route upon a finding by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] or the FCC that requesting telecommunications carriers are not impaired without access to DS1 Dedicated Transport or DS3 Dedicated Transport, respectively, on the subject Route(s) or on all Routes. Any DS1 Dedicated Transport or DS3 Dedicated Transport previously made available to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* on the subject Route(s) shall be considered Nonconforming Facilities immediately on the effective date of the nonimpairment finding and thereafter. All nonconforming DS1

Insertions shown in this type, deletions shown in this type.

# and DS3 Dedicated Transport provided to \*\*\* CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* shall be treated in accordance with §§ 3.8 of this Agreement.

- 3.5.3 <u>Dark Fiber Transport.</u> On or after October 2, 2003, notwithstanding any other provision of the Agreement or any Verizon tariff or SGAT, and in accordance with, but only to the extent required by, 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3), and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, and other applicable law, and as required by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] in accordance with applicable law:
  - Upon \*\*\* CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s written request, Verizon shall 3.5.3.1 provide \*\*\* CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* with nondiscriminatory access to Dark Fiber Transport on an unbundled basis pursuant to the Amended Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, Dark Fiber Transport does not include a dark fiber facility between (a) a Verizon switch or wire center and (b) a switch or wire center of \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* or any third party, and subject to the provisions of Section 3.8 below, Verizon is under no obligation to provide or continue providing such Nonconforming Facility under the Amended Agreement. Upon \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s written request, Verizon shall provide \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* with nondiscriminatory access to Dark Fiber Transport on an unbundled basis pursuant to the Amended Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, Dark Fiber Transport does not include a dark fiber facility between (a) a Verizon switch or wire center and (b) a switch or wire center of \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* or any third party, unless Verizon has installed any equipment at the premises of \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* or any other entity not affiliated with Verizon, regardless of whether Verizon has a cage ("Reverse Collocation") and subject to the provisions of Section 3.9 below, Verizon is under no obligation to provide or continue providing such Nonconforming Facility under the Amended Agreement.
    - <u>3.5.3.1.1</u> A Dark Fiber Inquiry Form must be submitted prior to submitting an ASR. Upon receipt of \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s completed Dark Fiber Inquiry Form, Verizon will initiate a review of its cable records to determine whether Dark Fiber Transport may be available between the locations and in the quantities specified. Verizon will respond within fifteen (15) Business Days from receipt of \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s Dark Fiber Inquiry Form. indicating whether Dark Fiber Transport may be available (if so available, an "Acknowledgement") based on the records search except that for ten (10) or more requests per LATA or large, complex projects, Verizon reserves the right to negotiate a different interval. The Dark Fiber Inquiry is a record search and does not guarantee the availability of Dark Fiber Transport. Where a direct Dark Fiber Transport route is not available, Verizon will provide, where available, Dark Fiber Transport via a reasonable indirect route that passes through intermediate Verizon Central Offices at the rates set forth in Exhibit A. Any limitations on the number of intermediate Verizon Central Offices will be discussed with \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*. If access to Dark Fiber Transport is not available, Verizon will notify \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*, within fifteen (15) Business Days, that no spare Dark Fiber Transport is available over the direct

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

route nor any reasonable alternate indirect route, except that for voluminous requests or large, complex projects, Verizon reserves the right to negotiate a different interval. Where no available route was found during the record review, Verizon will identify the first blocked segment on each alternate indirect route and which segment(s) in the alternate indirect route are available prior to encountering a blockage on that route, at the rates set forth in UNE Appendix Pricing. In responding to Dark Fiber Inquiries from \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*, Verizon will identify whether fiber is: (i) installed and available, (ii) installed but not available, or (iii) not installed. Where fiber is not available, Verizon shall describe in reasonable detail the reason why fiber is not available, including, but not limited to, specifying whether fiber is present but needs to be spliced, whether no fiber at all is present between the two points specified by \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*, whether further work other than splicing needs to be performed, and the nature of any such further work other than splicing. Use of information provided by Verizon pursuant to this provision shall be limited to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s engineering and operations personnel. \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s marketing personnel shall not be permitted access to, or use of, this information.

- 3.5.3.1.2 A field survey that shows the availability of dark fiber pairs between two or more Verizon central offices or a Verizon central office and a \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* central office, shows whether or not such pairs are defective, shows whether or not such pairs have been used by Verizon for emergency restoration activity and tests the transmission characteristics of Verizon dark fiber pairs. If a field survey shows that Dark Fiber Transport is available, \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* may reserve the Dark Fiber Transport, as applicable, for ten (10) Business Days from receipt of Verizon's field survey results. If \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* submits an order for access to such Dark Fiber Transport after passage of the foregoing ten (10) Business Day reservation period, Verizon does not guarantee or warrant that the Dark Fiber Transport will be available when Verizon receives such order, and \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* assumes all risk that the Dark Fiber Transport will not be available. At \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s option, its personnel may observe the conducting of the field survey. Verizon shall perform a field survey subject to a negotiated interval. If \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* submits an order for a dark fiber pair without first obtaining the results of a field survey of such pair, \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* assumes all risk that the pair will not be compatible with \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s equipment, including, but not limited to, order cancellation charges.
- 3.5.3.2 Nonimpairment. Subject to the provisions of Section **3.83.9** below, Verizon shall be under no obligation to provide or continue providing \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* with nondiscriminatory access to Dark Fiber Transport on an unbundled basis pursuant to § 251 of the Act, under

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

the Agreement or the Amended Agreement on a particular Route upon a finding by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*\*] or the FCC that requesting telecommunications carriers are not impaired without access to unbundled Dark Fiber Transport on the subject Route(s) or on all Routes. Any Dark Fiber Transport previously made available to \*\*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*\* on the subject Route(s) shall be considered a Nonconforming Facility as of the effective date of the nonimpairment finding. All nonconforming Dark Fiber Transport UNEs provided to \*\*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*\* shall be treated in accordance with §§ 3.8 of this Agreement.

1.5.4 Interconnection facilities and equipment provided pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(2) ("Interconnection Facilities") are not Unbundled Network Elements provided pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3) and nothing in this Amendment is intended to impair or limit in any way \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s rights to obtain access to 251(c)(2) Interconnection Facilities. Interconnection Facilities include, but are not limited to, transport facilities and equipment between the \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* switch and the Verizon Tandem Switch, or other Point of Interconnection designated by \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*, used for the exchange of traffic between \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* and Verizon. Interconnection facilities are to be provided by Verizon to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* at rates consistent with the TELRIC pricing principles established by the FCC and the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*].

#### 3.6 Commingling and Combinations.

3.6.1 Commingling. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Agreement or any Verizon tariff or SGAT, but subject to the conditions set forth in the following Section 3.6.2, Verizon will not prohibit the commingling of an unbundled Network Element or a combination of unbundled Network Elements obtained under the Agreement or Amended Agreement pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3) , and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, or other applicable law or requirements of the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] in accordance with applicable law, or under a Verizon UNE tariff ("Qualifying UNEs"), with wholesale services obtained from Verizon under a Verizon access tariff or separate non-251 agreement ("Qualifying Wholesale Services"), but only to the extent and so long as commingling and provision of such Network Element (or combination of Network Elements) is required by 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3) and 47 C.F.R. Part 51. Moreover, to the extent and so long as required by 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3). and 47 U.S.C. Part 51, or other applicable law, or as required by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] in accordance with applicable law, Verizon shall, upon request of \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*, perform the functions necessary to commingle or combine Qualifying UNEs with Qualifying Wholesale Services. Subject to Section 3.8.3 below, the The rates, terms and conditions of the applicable access tariff or separate non-251 agreement will apply to the Qualifying Wholesale Services, and the rates, terms and conditions of the Amended Agreement or the Verizon UNE tariff, as applicable, will apply to the Qualifying UNEs; provided, however, that a nonrecurring charge will apply for each UNE circuit that is part of a commingled arrangement, as set forth in the Pricing Attachment to this Amendment. This charge is intended to offset Verizon's costs of implementing and managing commingled arrangements. "Ratcheting," as that term is defined by the FCC, shall not be required. Qualifying UNEs that are commingled with Qualifying Wholesale Services are not included in the shared use provisions of the applicable tariff. Verizon's performance in connection with the provisioning of commingled

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

facilities and services shall not be subject to standard provisioning intervals, or to performance measures and remedies, if any, contained in the Amended Agreement or elsewhere.

- 3.6.2 <u>Service Eligibility Criteria for Certain Combinations and Commingled Facilities and Services.</u> Notwithstanding any other provision of the Agreement, this Amendment, or any Verizon tariff or SGAT to the contrary:
  - 3.6.2.1 Verizon shall not be obligated to provide:
    - an unbundled DS1 Loop in combination with unbundled DS1 or DS3 Dedicated Transport, or commingled with DS1 or DS3 access services;
    - 3.6.2.1.2 an unbundled DS3 Loop in combination with unbundled DS3 Dedicated Transport, or commingled with DS3 access services;
    - 3.6.2.1.3 unbundled DS1 Dedicated Transport commingled with DS1 channel termination access service;
    - 3.6.2.1.4 unbundled DS3 Dedicated Transport commingled with DS1 channel termination access service; or
    - 3.6.2.1.5 unbundled DS3 Dedicated Transport commingled with DS3 channel termination service,

except to the extent and so long as Verizon is required by 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3), and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, or other applicable law or requirements of the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] in accordance with applicable law to do so, and then not unless and until \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* certifies in writing to Verizon for each DS1 circuit or DS1 equivalent circuit ordered or converted to UNEs after October 2, 2003, that it is in compliance with each of the service eligibility criteria set forth in 47 C.F.R. § 51.318(b). \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* must remain in compliance with said service eligibility criteria for so long as \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* continues to receive the aforementioned combined or commingled facilities and/or services from Verizon. The service eligibility criteria shall be applied to each DS1 circuit or DS1 equivalent circuit. If the circuit is, becomes, or is subsequently determined to be, noncompliant, the noncompliant circuit will be treated as a Nonconforming Facility subject to the provisions of Section 3.8 below. The foregoing shall apply whether the circuits in question are being provisioned to establish a new circuit or to convert an existing wholesale service, or any part thereof, to unbundled network elements. For existing circuits, the CLEC must re-certify in writing for each DS1 circuit or DS1 equivalent within 30 days of the Amendment Effective Date. Circuits not re-certified shall be Nonconforming Facilities.

3.6.2.2 Each written certification to be provided by \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* pursuant to Section 3.6.2.1 above must contain the following information for each DS1 circuit or DS1 equivalent: (a) the local number assigned to each DS1 circuit or DS1 equivalent; (b) the local numbers assigned to each DS3 circuit (must have 28 local numbers assigned to it); (c) the date each circuit was

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

established in the 911/E911 database; (d) the collocation termination connecting facility assignment for each circuit, showing that the collocation arrangement was established pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(6), and not under a federal collocation tariff; (e) the interconnection trunk circuit identification number that serves each DS1 circuit. There must be one such identification number per every 24 DS1 circuits; and (f) the local switch that serves each DS1 circuit. When submitting an ASR for a circuit, this information must be contained in the Remarks section of the ASR, unless provisions are made to populate other fields on the ASR to capture this information. Each written certification to be provided by \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*\* pursuant to Section 3.6.2.1 above must contain the information required by 47 C.F.R. § 51.318(b) for each DS1 circuit or DS1 equivalent.

- 3.6.2.3 The charges for conversions are as specified in the Pricing Attachment to this Amendment and apply for each circuit converted. Section intentionally omitted.
- 3.6.2.4 Until such time as Verizon implements its ASR-driven conversion process in the East, conversion of access circuits to unbundled Network Elements, and conversion of unbundled Network Elements to access circuits, will be performed manually pursuant to Verizon's conversion guidelines. The effective bill date for conversions is the first of the month following Verizon's receipt of an accurate and complete ASR or electronic request for conversion pursuant to Verizon's conversion guidelines.
- 3.6.2.5 All ASR-driven conversion requests will result in a change in circuit identification (circuit ID) from access to UNE or UNE to access. If such change in circuit ID requires that the affected circuit(s) be retagged, then a retag fee per circuit will apply as specified in the pricing attachment.
- 3.6.2.6 All requests for conversions will be handled as a project and will be excluded from all ordering and provisioning metrics. Section intentionally omitted.
- 3.6.2.7 Once per calendar year On an annual basis, i.e., once per 12-month period, , Verizon may obtain and pay for an independent auditor to audit \*\*\* CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s compliance in all material respects with the service eligibility criteria applicable to EELs. Any such audit shall be performed in accordance with the standards established by the American Institute for Certified Public Accountants, and may include, at Verizon's discretion, the examination of a sample selected in accordance with the independent auditor's judgment. To the extent the independent auditor's report concludes that \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\* failed to comply with the service eligibility criteria for any DS1 or DS1 equivalent circuit, then \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* must convert all noncompliant circuits to the appropriate service, true up any difference in payments, and make the correct payments on a going-forward basis, In the event that the independent auditor's report concludes that \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* failed to comply in all material respects with the service eligibility criteria, \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* must

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

reimburse Verizon for the entire cost of the audit within thirty (30) days after receiving a statement of such costs from Verizon. independent auditor. Should the independent auditor confirm \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s compliance in all material respects with the service eligibility criteria for each DS1 or DS1 equivalent circuit, then \*\*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* shall provide to the independent auditor for its verification a statement of \*\*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s out-of-pocket costs of complying with any requests of the independent auditor, and Verizon shall then, then Verizon shall reimburse \*\*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* for its out-of-pocket costs within thirty (30) days of the auditor's verification of the same. costs associated with the audit. \*\*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* shall maintain records adequate to support its compliance with the service eligibility criteria for each DS1 or DS1 equivalent circuit-for at least eighteen (18) months after the service arrangement in question is terminated.

#### 3.7 Routine Network Modifications.

- General Conditions. In accordance with, but only to the extent required by, 3.7.1 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3), and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, and other applicable law, and as required by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] in accordance with applicable law, including Verizon's obligation to provide nondiscriminatory access to all network modifications performed for its retail or affiliated operations. Verizon shall make such routine network modifications, at the rates and charges set forth in the Pricing Attachment to this Amendment, as are necessary to permit access by \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* to the Loop, Dedicated Transport, and Dark Fiber Transportany UNE facilities available under the Amended Agreement, including DS1 Loops and DS1 Dedicated Transport, and DS3 Loops and DS3 Dedicated Transport. Where facilities are unavailable, Verizon will not perform trenching, pull cable, construct new Loops or Transport or install new aerial, buried, or underground cable to provision an order of \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*. . Routine network modifications applicable to Loops or Transport may include. but are not limited to: rearranging or splicing of in-place cable at existing splice points; adding an equipment case; adding a doubler or repeater; installing a repeater shelf; deploying a new multiplexer or reconfiguring an existing multiplexer; accessing manholes; and deploying bucket trucks to reach aerial cable. Routine network modifications applicable to Dark Fiber Transport may include, but are not limited to, splicing of in-place dark fiber at existing splice points; accessing manholes; deploying bucket trucks to reach aerial cable; and any other routine activities, if any, needed to enable \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* to light a Dark Fiber Transportobtain and use a UNE facility that it has obtained or seeks to obtain from Verizon under the Amended Agreement. The costs for these modifications are already included in the existing rates for the UNEs as set forth in the Agreement. Verizon is not required to perform trenching, pull cable, construct entirely new Loops or Transport or install new aerial, buried, or underground cable to provision an order of \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*. Routine network modifications do not include the installation of new aerial or buried cable for a requesting telecommunications carrier or the placement of new cable.
- 3.7.2 Performance Plans. Verizon's performance in connection with the provisioning of Loops or Transport (including Dark Fiber Transport) for which routine network modifications are necessary shall not be subject to standard provisioning intervals, or to performance measures and remedies, if any, contained in the Amended Agreement or

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

elsewhere. Performance. Verizon's performance in connection with the provisioning of UNEs for which routine network modifications are necessary remains subject to standard provisioning intervals, and to performance measures and remedies, if any, contained in the Amended Agreement or elsewhere.

- 3.7.3 If, notwithstanding its obligations under Sections 201, 202, and 251 of the Act, state law, and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, and other applicable law, and requirements established by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] in accordance with applicable law, Verizon determines that it does not have available facilities to fulfill a \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* request for an unbundled facility, Verizon may deny the request on the basis of "no facilities" only if it provides the following information at the time of a denial: the location of all facilities that were reviewed in making the determination; a detailed description and estimated cost of non-routine modifications that would be necessary to fulfill the UNE request utilizing currently unused facilities; and a proposed timetable and charge to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* for the non-routine modifications that would be sufficient to provision the requested facility.
- Where a \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* UNE request is denied on the basis of 3.7.4 no facilities available. Verizon shall for a 24-month period have a continuing obligation to advise \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* within 60 days if and when Verizon later provides any retail or wholesale services to any customer at the same premises that were the subject of \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s request using facilities that were, at the time of the request. deemed unavailable to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*. This notification shall include, at a minimum, a description of all work that was performed in the interim period that enabled service to be offered over the facility. If Verizon fails to so notify \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*, or if it can subsequently be determined by Verizon, \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* or the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] that the facility should have been made available to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* at the time of its request, Verizon shall pay \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* a performance rebate of \$1000 per incident, which shall be in addition to any other remedies available to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* under this Agreement or applicable law.

# 3.8 Section 271 Obligations [only applicable in former Bell Atlantic states]

- Notwithstanding any determination of non-impairment that may affect Verizon's obligations under Section 251, the Parties agree that Verizon is obligated under § 271 of the Act to provide \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* with nondiscriminatory access to elements as provided in § 271(c)(2)(b) including but not limited to: local loop transmission from the central office to the customer's premises (§271(c)(2)(b)(iv), local transport from the trunk side of Verizon's switch ((§271(c)(2)(b)(v)), and local switching (§271(c)(2)(b)(vi)).
- 3.8.2 The Parties further agree that each element provided by Verizon to

  \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* shall be provided at TELRIC-based rates.

  \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* and Verizon agree that TELRIC-based rates are just and reasonable rates for these elements and the rates at which Verizon shall provide these elements appears in the UNE Pricing Appendix.

Insertions shown in this type, deletions shown in this type.

- 3.8.3 The Parties agree that in providing \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*

  nondiscriminatory access to elements under §271, Verizon shall be
  obligated to, at a minimum, combine UNEs at \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*
  request, comply with the modification of network facilities provisions of
  this Agreement, and all other provisions of this Agreement governing the
  nondiscriminatory provision of network elements to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym
  TXT\*\*\*.
- 3.9 3.8 Transitional Provisions for Nonconforming Facilities.
  - 3.9.1 3.8.1-Nonimpairment Findings Switching. To the extent required by 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3), and 47 C.F.R. Part 51, and other applicable law, and as required by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] in accordance with applicable law, Verizon and \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* will abide by the following transitional procedures with respect to Mass Market Switching and Enterprise Switching:
    - 3.8.1.1 Mass Market Switching. Upon a finding by the [\*\*\*State 3.9.1.1 Commission TXT\*\*\*] or the FCC that no impairment exists in a particular market with respect to Mass Market Switching, Verizon will continue accepting orders under the Amended Agreement for Mass Market Switching for a transitional period of five (5) months. Thereafter. Verizon shall be under no obligation to accept new orders for Mass Market Switching. Counting from the date of the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*]'s or FCC's order finding no impairment in a particular market or markets, \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* shall submit orders to Verizon to migrate the embedded base of its end user customers in the subject market off of Verizon's Mass Market Switching product to any other switching service or product made available by Verizon, subject to Section 3.8.3 below, under separate agreement, or to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s own or a third party's facilities, in accordance with the following schedule: (a) during month 13, \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* must submit orders to migrate one-third of its embedded base of end user customers; (b) during month 20, \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* must submit orders to migrate one-half of the remaining embedded base of end user customers; and (c) during month 27, \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* must submit orders to migrate the remainder of its embedded base of end user customers. For purposes of the foregoing schedule. customers already in a "rolling" transition plan established by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] or the FCC shall not be included in the embedded base.
    - 3.9.1.2 Enterprise Switching. Verizon will provide \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* with at least thirty (30) days advance written notice of the date on which Verizon will cease provisioning Enterprise Switching to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*. Verizon agrees to continue provisioning Enterprise Switching to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* under the terms of the Amended Agreement during a transitional period, which transitional period shall end on the date set forth in the notice. Beginning January 1, 2004, \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* shall have ninety (90) days in which to submit orders to Verizon to migrate its embedded base of end user customers served by Verizon's Enterprise Switching product to any other switching service or product made available by Verizon, subject to Section 3.8.3 below, under separate agreement, or to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*'s own or a third party's facilities.

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

- 3.9.2 Other Nonconforming Facilities. With respect to any Nonconforming Facility not addressed in Section 3.9.1 above, Verizon may reclassify or disconnect its provision of such facility on an unbundled basis only upon all of the following conditions: (1) On or after the date on which a facility is deemed a Nonconforming Facility pursuant to a final, nonappealable nonimpairment finding issued by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] or the FCC, Verizon provides written notice to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* of its intent to discontinue access to the facility on an unbundled basis. Verizon's written notice will include circuit identification numbers and location information, or for facilities other than circuits, comparable identifying information, for each facility; (2) Verizon will continue to provide the Nonconforming Facilities addressed in the subject notice(s) to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* under the terms of the Amended Agreement for a transition period of at least (a) 90 days for facilities which Verizon also offers pursuant to Section 271 or as a special access service or (b) 180 days for all other facilities; (3) At the end of that applicable transitional period set forth above, unless \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* has submitted an LSR or ASR, as appropriate, to Verizon requesting disconnection of the Nonconforming Facility, Verizon shall convert the subject Nonconforming Facilities to (a) an element under §271 of the Act consistent with § 3.8 of this Agreement, if applicable; or (b) if no alternative is offered pursuant to Section 271, Verizon shall convert the Nonconforming Facility to an analogous access service, if available; (c) or if no analogous access service is available, to such other service arrangement as \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* may have separately secured from Verizon (e.g., a separate agreement at market-based rates or resale). Where the Nonconforming Facilities are converted to an analogous access service, Verizon shall provide such access services at the month-to-month rates. and in accordance with the terms and conditions, of Verizon's applicable access tariff, or separate Agreement where applicable, with the effective bill date being the first day following the expiration of the transition period. No nonrecurring charges for service termination, connection, disconnection, reconnection, or other charges associated with the installation of a new service or the termination of an existing service shall apply to the conversion of Nonconforming Facilities to an analogous access service, or an element under § 271 of the Act, or to any Nonconforming Facilities that \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* requests Verizon to disconnect; and (4) in the event that \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* has a good faith dispute that a facility identified in Verizon's notice is not a Nonconforming Facility, \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* may within 90 days file a dispute with Verizon pursuant to the Dispute Resolution procedures set forth in the Agreement. Verizon will continue to provide the facility on an unbundled basis pending resolution of the dispute.
- Other Nonconforming Facilities-Generally. Except as addressed in the limited circumstances described in Section 3.8.1 above, relating to a finding of no impairment, Verizon will notify \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* in writing as to any particular unbundled facility previously made available to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* that is or becomes a Nonconforming Facility, as defined herein. The Parties acknowledge that such notice was issued prior to the execution of this Amendment with respect to certain Nonconforming Facilities. During a transitional period of thirty (30) days from the date of such notice, Verizon agrees to continue providing the Nonconforming Facilities addressed in the subject notice(s) to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* under the terms of the Amended Agreement. At the end of that thirty (30) day period, unless \*\*\*CLEC

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

Acronym TXT\*\*\* has submitted an LSR or ASR, as appropriate, to Verizon requesting disconnection of the Nonconforming Facility, Verizon shall, subject to Section 3.8.3 below, convert the subject Nonconforming Facilities to an analogous access service, if available, or if no analogous access service is available, to such other service arrangement as \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* may have separately secured from Verizon (e.g., a separate agreement at market-based rates or resale): provided, however, that where there is no analogous access service, if \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* has not separately secured from Verizon, subject to Section 3.8.3 below, a substitute service within such thirty (30) day period, then Verizon may disconnect the Nonconforming Facilities; and provided, further, that with respect to any dark fiber facility that, pursuant to the terms of this Amendment, is (or becomes) a Nonconforming Facility, the transition period shall be ninety (90) days from the date of the aforementioned notice; and provided further, that unless \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*, subject to Section 3.8.3 below, has separately secured from Verizon a suitable transitional services agreement for such dark fiber facilities within that ninety (90) day period. Verizon may disconnect the Nonconforming Facility in question. Where the Nonconforming Facilities are converted to an analogous access service. Verizon shall, subject to Section 3.8.3 below, provide such access services at the month-to-month rates, and in accordance with the terms and conditions, of Verizon's applicable access tariff, with the effective bill date being the first day following the thirty (30) day notice period. \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* shall pay all applicable termination charges, if any, for any Nonconforming Facilities that \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* requests Verizon to disconnect, or that Verizon disconnects as permitted by terms of this Amendment or otherwise.

Limitation With Respect to Substitute Services. Notwithstanding any 3.8.3 contrary provision in the Agreement, this Amendment, or any Verizon tariff or SGAT, to the extent a Nonconforming Facility is replaced, in whole or in part, by a service, facility or arrangement that Verizon is not required by 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3) and 47 C.F.R. Part 51 to provide, including without limitation an analogous access service (a "Substitute Service"), any negotiations regarding the rates, terms or conditions of such Substitute Service shall not be deemed to have been conducted pursuant to this Amended Agreement or 47 U.S.C. § 252(a)(1) (or 47 C.F.R. Part 51), and the rates, terms, and conditions of any such Substitute Service shall not be subject to arbitration pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 252(b). Verizon does not agree to negotiate pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 252(a)(1) the rates, terms, or conditions of any Substitute Service. Any reference in this Amended Agreement to Verizon's provision of a service that Verizon is not required by 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(3) and 47 C.F.R. Part 51 to provide is solely for the convenience of the Parties and shall not be construed in a manner contrary to this Section 3.8.3.

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

#### **Pricing Attachment to the TRO Amendment**

#### 1. General

- 1.1 As used in this Attachment:
  - 1.1.1 "Services" means and includes any Network Element or other service, facility, equipment or arrangement, provided pursuant to this Amendment; and,
  - 1.1.2 "Charges" means the rates, fees, charges and prices for a Service.
- Charges for Services provided under the Amended Agreement shall be those set forth in Exhibit A of this Pricing Attachment and in the Amended Agreement (including any cross references therein to applicable tariffs). For rate elements provided in Exhibit A of this Pricing Attachment that do not include a Charge, if any, whether marked as "TBD" or otherwise, Verizon is developing such Charges and has not finished developing such Charges as of the Amendment Effective Date. When Verizon finishes developing such a Charge, Verizon shall notify \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* in writing of such Charge in accordance with, and subject to, the notices provisions of the Amended Agreement and thereafter shall bill \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\*, and \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* shall pay to Verizon, for Services provided pursuant to this Amendment on the Amendment Effective Date and thereafter in accordance with such Charge. Any Charges set out in a notice provided by Verizon to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* pursuant to this Section 1.2 shall be deemed to be a part of Exhibit A of this Pricing Attachment immediately after Verizon sends such notice to \*\*\*CLEC Acronym TXT\*\*\* and thereafter.
- 1.3 In the absence of Charges for a Service established pursuant to Section 1.2 of this Attachment, the Charges for the Service shall be the Charges required, approved, or otherwise allowed to go into effect, by the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] or the FCC (including, but not limited to, in a tariff that has been filed with the [\*\*\*State Commission TXT\*\*\*] or the FCC), provided such Charges are not subject to a stay issued by any court of competent jurisdiction.
- 1.4 In the absence of Charges for a Service established pursuant to Sections 1.2 through 1.3 of this Attachment, the Charges for the Service shall be mutually agreed to by the Parties in writing.

Insertions shown in this type; deletions shown in this type.

# **EXHIBIT A\***

[Note: Verizon's Exhibit A to the Pricing Attachment is not reproduced in this alternative; the Coalition proposes to delete the entire Exhibit A.]

<sup>\*-</sup>The rate schedules shown are subject to unilateral change by Verizon, unless and until finalized in connection with an executed interconnection agreement amendment.